
Date Published:13 March 2018     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Wednesday 14 March 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2017.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests by members.

Laura Powick

4  GLOUCESTERSHIRE'S GROWTH STORY (Pages 9 - 32)

CONNECTIVITY

- To receive a presentation from Highways England on the 
challenges of supporting partners with their growth plans.

- To receive an update on the GCC commissioned 
Connections Study and the work carried out to date to 
understand potential shared transport priorities with 
neighbouring areas.

- To receive a brief update on Highways England’s plans to 
investigate route options for improving the A417 Missing Link 
and the Public Consultation process  (15 February -  29 
March).

Andrew Page-
Dove

Ben Watts

Amanda 
Lawson-Smith 



    

POST-BREXIT CONSIDERATIONS

- To receive a position paper to advise on potential ‘lines of 
enquiry’ and particular issues of relevance to 
Gloucestershire.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE STRATEGIC PLANS

- To provide an update on the current status of the various 
Local Plans across Gloucestershire. 

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

Mike Dawson 

5  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
(Pages 33 - 46)

To consider an update on the activities of the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (GEGSC).

The minutes from the GEGSC meetings held on 29 November 2017 
and 22 February 2018 are attached for information.

Cllr Kevin 
Cromwell

6  GFIRST LEP UPDATE (Pages 47 - 56)

To receive a report on the delivery of the Growth Programme in the 
County, including an update on ESIF, the Growth Deal Fund 
reallocation process, and preparation of a Local Industrial Strategy 
for Gloucestershire.  

Dev 
Chakraborty

7  BUSINESS RATE POOL (Pages 57 - 60)

To receive an update report on the Business Rate Pool and 
expenditure proposals for the Strategic Economic Development 
Fund.

Mike Dawson, 
David Stanley

8  GOVERNMENT/HCA HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND 

To receive a verbal update on the outcome of recent bids submitted 
from Gloucestershire. 

District 
Representatives

9  FORWARD PLAN - FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 61 - 64)

To consider proposed areas of focus and discussion topics for 
future meetings of the Committee.

Mike Dawson

10  FUTURE MEETING DATES 

To note that the Committee is due to meet on the following dates in 

Laura Powick



    

2018:

Wednesday 20 June 2018
Wednesday 5 September 2018
Wednesday 21 November 2018.

All meetings to start at 10am (this allows meetings of the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee to take place 
on the same day).

Membership –  Cllr Lynden Stowe Cllr Dave Waters, Cllr Tim Gwilliam, Cllr Paul James, Cllr Steve 
Jordan, Cllr Christopher Hancock and Cllr Doina Cornell
Mally Findlater and Dev Chakraborty

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Members are required to sign the attendance list.

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 
held on Wednesday 29 November 2017 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet 
Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Dave Waters
Cllr Paul James
Cllr Steve Jordan
Cllr Christopher Hancock

Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Lynden Stowe (Chairman)
Dev Chakraborty

Substitutes: Cllr Roger James

Apologies: Cllr Tim Gwilliam

101. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Tim Gwilliam.

Cllr Roger James substituted at the meeting for Cllr Gwilliam. 

102. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2017 were approved by the 
Committee and signed by the Chairman. 

103. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Steve Jordan declared a personal interest, as a GFirst LEP Director 
representing Leadership Gloucestershire on the GFirst LEP Board, in relation to 
item 9, Business Rate Pool. 

104. GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Cllr David Norman MBE, Chairman of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Scrutiny Committee (GEGSC), provided an update on GEGSC activities.

Cllr Norman informed the Committee that on 19 October 2017, a GEGSC meeting 
was held at Tewkesbury Borough Council, and thanked Cllr Robert Bird, Deputy 
Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Economic Development/ Promotion at 
Tewkesbury Borough Council, and Mike Dawson, Chief Executive, Tewkesbury 
Borough Council, for the detailed and informative presentations they gave at the 
meeting. Members were also informed that the meeting was positive, and that 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Tewkesbury Borough Council members fully engaged in the discussion and 
question and answer session. 

Cllr Norman highlighted an absence of officers in attendance at the meeting, and 
encouraged more officers to attend the meeting which would be held at Cotswold 
District Council on 22 February 2018. 

There was a discussion around the benefits of holding GEGSC meetings at the 
district councils, particularly in terms of identifying barriers to development. The 
importance of attendance by officers from the county and district councils, as well 
as from the GFirst LEP, at the ‘stand alone’ GEGSC meetings was also recognised.

105. GLOUCESTERSHIRE CONNECTIONS STUDY 

Members received a presentation from Martin Revill, Project Director, SYSTRA, on 
the Gloucestershire County Council commissioned study looking at the future role 
for road and rail in support of improved strategic connectivity in Gloucestershire by 
2050.

It was explained that the study was focussed on external connectivity, and  
considered a number of important corridors to and from Gloucestershire. The work 
consisted of a narrative based on the views of stakeholders, policy and literature 
review, and analytical work to identify the GDP uplift of improving connectivity to 
and from Gloucestershire within the six identified corridors. 

Members noted that, as part of the work, stakeholders were asked to consider three 
fundamental questions, in particular, relating to current problems with connectivity, 
and the priorities for investment to improve connectivity. 

Members were presented with illustrations of existing connectivity, based on the 
2011 census data. It was highlighted that this data only provided information on 
travel to and from places of work, and not business to business travel. Members 
were also presented with illustrations of future growth plans and future connectivity.

The Committee noted a number of key questions to be considered regarding 
Gloucestershire's connectivity for the future, and questions that could be 
considered beyond this study.

It was clarified, in response to a query, that the study was focussed on connectivity 
rather than deeper economic issues. There was also a query as to whether internal 
connectivity would be considered as part of the study. The Committee was advised 
that internal connectivity was being addressed as part of Vision 2050.

There was a query as to whether the data used for the study was too limited. It was 
explained that discussions with stakeholders would provide a narrative in addition to 
the data, and that this study may pose further questions that could need 
considering moving forward. It was clarified that there would be further opportunities 
for stakeholders to contribute to the study at a later stage.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The significant level of growth within the County, and the importance of 
Gloucestershire as a growth area was highlighted to the Committee.

The Committee noted that the final report would be finalised in the New Year.
 

106. GFIRST LEP UPDATE 

Dev Chakraborty, Deputy Chief Executive, GFirst LEP, provided the Committee 
with an update on the delivery of the Growth Programme in the County, including 
an update on ESIF and the Growth Deal Fund reallocation process.

Members noted the status of projects that were progressing through the approval 
and funding process, in particular, that funding agreements for the Digital Retail 
Innovation Centre and A419 Corridor Improvements were approved by the GFirst 
LEP Board. Additionally, Cheltenham Spa Station Improvements were 
recommended for approval to the LEP Board by the LEP Investment Panel at its 
meeting on 28 November 2017.

Members noted that discussions were being held with the University of 
Gloucestershire regarding a gap in ESIF funding, that the Gloucester South West 
By-pass approval date had been moved to February 2018, and that the Lydney 
Transport Strategy had suffered delays. 

The Committee was informed that 12 revised or new bids were received against the 
Growth Deal re-allocation funds available, with a total value of £25.4m against an 
available fund of £5.043m.

Nigel Riglar and David Hagg were thanked for their involvement in the GFirst LEP 
Board member interview process, through which Deborah Potts and Jenny 
Raymond were appointed as new Board members. 

The Committee also noted that the ‘Annual Conversation’ between GFirst LEP, the 
Accountable Body and the Government had been positive, and that the 
Government had provided encouraging feedback on the work that was being 
carried out by GFirst LEP. 

107. EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS 

The Committee noted the update report on the Employment and Skills agenda.

Clarification was sought on the balance between providers and employers on the 
Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board (GESB), and whether the GESB was 
aligned with the Industrial Strategy.

It was noted that the Chair of the GESB would be confirmed in due course. 

108. ECONOMIC INTELLIGENCE - INFORM GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The Committee received a presentation from Katherine Martin, Data and Analysis 
Manager (Place), Gloucestershire County Council, on the range and value of 
economic intelligence and data available on INFORM. 

Members were provided with a demonstration of the INFORM website 
(https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JScript=
1), which was focussed particularly on the economy section of the website. It was 
noted that the information on the website was publically available and thematically 
structured. 

In response to a query, it was explained that the MAIDeN neighbourhood profiles 
were available to district members on request. Members were also advised to 
contact the INFORM team at Gloucestershire County Council should they have any 
queries or feedback.

There was a discussion around wider measures of wellbeing, and it was noted that 
a report on productivity within Gloucestershire would be brought to a future 
meeting. 

109. BUSINESS RATE POOL 

David Stanley, Accountancy Manager, Stroud District Council, provided the 
Committee with an update on the Business Rate Pool.

Members were informed that the mid-year forecast for the Pool 2017/18, based on 
an estimated outturn position undertaken by Pool members in September 2017, 
showed a slightly reduced forecast of £3.821m. It was also explained that there 
would likely be significant appeals against the new valuations, and that the impact 
of these on the level of retained business rates income would need to be monitored. 

The Committee was informed that in September 2017, the Government published a 
100% business rates retention pilot prospectus for 2018/19. The Gloucestershire 
CFOs, with support from Pixel Financial Management, undertook extensive 
financial modelling to assess the risk and reward of a potential bid to be a pilot for 
2018/19. Following endorsement by Leadership Gloucestershire at its meeting on 
26 October 2017, a bid was submitted to CLG on 27 October. CLG was set to 
announce the successful pilot areas in the Local Government Finance Settlement in 
December 2017.

There was a discussion around the potential impact on the pool should NHS Trusts 
be classified as charitable bodies and therefore qualify for mandatory charitable 
business rates relief of 80% of their business rates.

The Committee considered and discussed the report recommendations regarding 
the Strategic Economic Development Fund, including whether there were 
alternative projects to fund. 

Page 4

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JScript=1
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JScript=1


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Following a discussion, it was suggested that the ‘memorandum of understanding’, 
which would be entered into by the seven Councils and the GFirst LEP for 2018-20, 
be circulated with Committee members and agreed via email. 

The Committee agreed the report recommendations. 

Resolved

1. To note the forecast position with the Pool for 2017/18 and the Pilot 
submission;

2. That £250k of reserves currently held in the Strategic Economic Fund 
are used for the purposes of match funding the Government’s core 
funding to GFirst LEP in 2018/19

3. That the first £250k of SEDF revenues arising during 2017/18 are used 
to match fund the Government’s core funding in 2019/20;

4. That the 7 Councils enter into a simple ‘memorandum of 
understanding’ with GFirst LEP for the period 2018-2020;

5. That a review of the on-going need for Core Funding match and the 
correct mechanism for achieving this is completed by December 2019; 
and

6. That £75k of reserves held in the Strategic Economic Fund is used for 
the purposes of match funding the Inward Investment Service 
proposed by GFirst LEP. 

110. STRATEGIC PLANNING COLLABORATION IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Mike Dawson, Chief Executive, Tewkesbury Borough Council, updated the 
Committee on proposals for the recruitment of a Strategic Planning Coordinator for 
Gloucestershire. 

The Committee was informed that the proposed terms of employment and 
recruitment arrangements for the role, as outlined in the report, had been agreed by 
senior officers from partner councils and GFirst LEP.

It was clarified, in response to a suggestion that the post be recruited through 
Publica, that the Inter-Authority Agreement for GEGJC included provisions for the 
appointment of a senior manager and for the recruitment of the post to be 
determined by the GEGJC. The agreement made no provision for the appointment 
of a separate company to undertake the role and it would not, therefore, be 
appropriate for this to be provided through Publica. 

It was agreed that the appointment panel for the position would consist of the 
Chairman of GEGJC, Cllr Steve Lydon and Cllr Steve Jordan.

The Committee agreed the report recommendations.

Resolved 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

That the post will be hosted and supported by Tewkesbury Borough Council 
in accordance with that Council’s terms and conditions of employment.

1. The appointment will be established in accordance with the job 
description and person specification attached at appendix 1, for an 
initial fixed period of 3 years with a review by the GEGJC after 2 years;

2. All cost implications of the post will be financed as follows:
- 50% Gloucestershire County Council and
- Remainder shared equally between the district councils and the 

GFirst LEP;
3. For day to day supervision and guidance the post will report to the 

Chair of the GEGJC Senior Officer Group;
4. The post will be located at the GFirst LEP offices;
5. The Joint Committee is asked to make nominations to the 

Appointments Panel as referred to in paragraph 3.2 of the report; and
6. Authority is delegated to the Chief Executive of Tewkesbury Borough 

Council to appoint the post having considered the recommendations of 
the Appointments Panel.

111. GOVERNMENT/ HCA HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND 

It was agreed that an update on district council bids to the Government/HCA 
Housing Infrastructure Fund would be circulated to Committee members via email. 
The date by which the Government was expected to respond to bids would also be 
confirmed with members. 

It was explained, following a query, that smart motorways would be discussed at 
the meeting due to be held with Highways England. It was also recognised that a 
conversation needed to be held with the Government regarding the timescales for 
funding rounds.
 

112. FASTERSHIRE BROADBAND PROJECT 

Claire Edwards, Outcome Manager, Gloucestershire County Council, provided the 
Committee with an update on progress with the Fastershire Broadband Project.

It was noted that Phase 1 of the project had been completed, which had enabled 
just less than 75,000 premises in Gloucestershire to access a broadband 
connection greater than 30Mbps. Work was currently progressing on Phase 2 of the 
project, which would have enabled 97% of Gloucestershire properties on 
completion. The indicative build timescales for communities in the Phase 2 rollout 
areas were available on the Fastershire website (www.fastershire.com).

It was also noted that Fastershire had bid to secure more funding from the 
European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development to extend superfast broadband 
further.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

There was a discussion regarding broadband  infrastructure in new estates. 
Members were advised that the responsibility for developers to put the 
infrastructure in new estates would be included in local plans. 

It was agreed that a written update on progress with the Fastershire Broadband 
Project would be circulated to GEGJC and GEGSC members. 

113. FORWARD PLAN - FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 

The Committee considered the proposed areas of focus and discussion topics for 
future meetings of the Committee. 

It was noted that a report on M5 Junction 9 and 10 would be brought to a future 
Committee meeting, and it was agreed that a briefing on the potential for national 
park status for Cotswold AONB would be presented at the next meeting.

The Committee noted the Forward Plan.

114. FUTURE MEETING DATES 

The Committee noted the meeting dates for 2018. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.00 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
Wednesday 14 March 2018
Agenda Item 4 – Gloucestershire’s Growth Story - Update on the Gloucestershire Connects Study.

Gloucestershire Connects - background

Systra were commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council undertake a study focussing on 
strategic road and rail connectivity for seven external travel corridors.  The report once completed 
will provide evidence to inform which external links are more important to the economy of 
Gloucestershire.  

This assessment is based on the agglomeration benefits of improved business to business 
connections and therefore only represents part of the wider economic story.  Agglomeration 
benefits relate to the impact of businesses being located closer together and the associated 
increases in productivity that arise from this.  It is worth noting that external connectivity is only part 
of the story, and the report is set within the context that Gloucestershire does have a significant 
degree of ‘self-sufficiency’ and ‘self-containment’. In addition to existing travel demand patterns the 
report also considers future growth plans as these will influence future travel patterns.  

A wider economics model for the area has been developed to assess the agglomeration benefits.   
Several tests have been conducted to examine, in a consistent manner, the impact of investment in 
transport infrastructure.  These tests apply a consistent reduction in generalised cost or journey 
times to all origin-destination pairs contained in the model and examine changes to both rail and 
highway movements.  The values reported represent the GDP benefits (in £m p.a.) of improved 
connectivity.   

Analysis indicates that improved connectivity to and from Greater Bristol, the West Midlands, and 
London) generate the most benefits, which in part reflect the size of these areas.  The results for 
authorities that border Gloucestershire vary considerably.  Benefits from improving links to 
Worcestershire compare favourably to other neighbouring counties, with only Oxfordshire being 
higher of the immediate neighbouring shires.

The rail impact is much more limited than the highway impact.  This is largely a function of the 
sparse rail network to, from, and within Gloucestershire, and on some parts of the network the 
relatively poor services provided.  However, where rail does have a more significant impact is on 
corridors such as to and from Greater Bristol and London.  Coupled with a focus on city centre 
growth, the strength of results for Greater Bristol, the urban West Midlands, and London, gives 
credence to the argument for rail investment to improve city-to-city connectivity.

Spatial analysis of the distribution of potential agglomeration and labour market benefits from 
improved connectivity shows two strong features.  

 That geography does matter, with a strong relationship between neighbouring areas and the 
potential for improved connectivity yielding economic benefits.  

 The urban areas of Gloucester and Cheltenham show strong potential benefits from 
connectivity improvements, especially by rail to other conurbations.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Sw
indon

Wilts
hire

Greate
r B

ris
tol

So
uth W

ale
s

Herefordsh
ire

Worce
ste

rsh
ire

Warw
ick

sh
ire

Oxfo
rdsh

ire

West 
Midlan

ds

Knowledge
 Corri

dor

Lo
ndon

So
uth East

£1.00

£6.00

£11.00

£16.00

£21.00

£26.00
Car

Rail

Additional GDP per annum (£millions) generated in Gloucestershire from a 10 minute 
journey time reduction

Page 10



Report to GEGJC 14 March 2018
Author: Amanda Lawson-Smith
Contact: amanda.lawson-smith@gloucestershire.gov.uk

This report sets out the background and content of the Highways England public 
consultation on the A417 Missing Link scheme.  The consultation runs from 15 
February to 29 March 2018.
                                                                                                                                                
1.0  Background
 

1.1 The Missing Link is a 5km stretch of single carriageway on the A417 near 
Nettleton Bottom which is managed by Highways England as part of the Strategic 
Road Network (SRN). It is the only single carriageway section on the 50km long 
trunk road, is a regular cause of serious congestion and has seen a very high 
level of accidents, including several fatalities, in recent years.

1.2 The A417 provides an essential link to the M5 at Gloucester and the M4 at 
Swindon – two of the region’s top growth areas. It helps businesses in the south 
west connect with markets and opportunities in the midlands and the north, and 
attracts investment for Gloucestershire and its neighbours by linking them to 
London and the south east.

1.3 Congestion can be unpredictable, so some motorists often ‘rat run’ along 
local roads, affecting the communities along these routes. These local roads 
were not designed to accommodate this level of traffic and collisions often 
happen.

1.4 The existing A417 runs through the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, and crosses the highly sensitive Cotswolds escarpment at Crickley Hill. 
This steep change in the landscape means that finding a suitable solution for 
upgrading the A417 Missing Link is extremely challenging.

1.5 Gloucestershire County Council, District Councils, MPs, GFirst LEP, 
businesses and local residents have been campaigning and lobbying for an 
improvement to be made to the A417 Missing Link for many years.  In 2014 
Government announced that the scheme would be included in the Road 
Investment Strategy from 2015 – 2021.  The County Council has already 
contributed £1M towards the development of a scheme, and has committed a 
further sum of up to £3M (total £4m) at council on 14 February 2018.

1.6 Highways England is delivering £15 Billion of investment on the SRN as 
described in the Government’s Road Investment Strategy 2015 – 2020. As part of 
this strategy, the Department for Transport has made money available to develop 
a scheme to upgrade the remaining single carriageway section of the A417, with 
the aim of constructing the project in the next road investment period (RIS2) 
(2020-2025). Highways England is responsible for delivering this scheme.

1.7 This consultation sets out progress to date and the next steps.

Page 11

mailto:amanda.lawson-smith@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2.0   Process to date

2.1   Over the years, there have been numerous attempts to improve the A417 
Missing Link. For various reasons, including affordability and changes in 
investment priorities, these have never come to fruition. However, in recent 
years, the case for improvement has become more compelling – to improve 
safety, support the economy, ease congestion and reduce pollution.

2.2 Over the last 18 months, Highways England has been looking at a number of 
route options, including proposals which have been put forward in the past. They 
have assessed them against the vision and objectives for the scheme which were 
developed in partnership with key stakeholders, such as the Cotswolds 
Conservation Board and Gloucestershire County Council.

2.3 The objectives for the scheme are set out below:

 Transport and safety: to reduce delays, create a free-flowing road network 
and improve safety along this stretch of the A417.

 Environment and heritage: to reduce the impact on the landscape, natural 
and historic environment of the Cotswolds and, where possible, enhance the 
surrounding environment.

 Community and access: to reduce queuing traffic and pollution, improve 
access for local people to the SRN and support residents’ and visitors’ 
enjoyment to the countryside

 Economic growth: to help boost growth and prosperity by making journeys 
more reliable and improving connectivity.

3.0  Identifying the options

3.1 Around 18 months ago, Highways England started early assessment work to 
identify possible route options. For this, they used four sources:
 a review of historic work completed by Gloucestershire County Council and 

the (then) Highways Agency.
 outputs from initial scoping work carried out by Highways England to see if 

any viable solutions could be developed.
 outputs from a workshop carried out with stakeholders, including 

representatives from environmental and economic groups, and local 
authorities.

 the refinement of alternative routes by the project team.

Page 12



3.2 Thirty options were identified and can be found on Figure 3 below (n.b. figure 
3 is the reference given in the HE consultation document).

Page 13



4.0Assessing route options: the engineering test

4.1 The next step was to review the 30 options in engineering terms to ensure 
that Highways England only took forward options which improved on the quality 
of the existing road and can be realistically delivered.  For example if a route had 
bends that were too sharp or slopes that were steeper than the existing A417 at 
Crickley Hill, they were discounted. As a result of this test, 10 of the initial 30 
route options were discounted and 20 moved on to the next step.  Figure 4 below 
shows the 20 route options taken forward to the next step.

Page 14



5.0 Assessing route options: the sift

5.1 HE then assessed each route against a series of five factors, which are part 
of a Department for Transport approved assessment method. These factors are:
 Strategic – assessing what each option is trying to achieve and how it will 

address the problem;
 Economic – reviewing each option’s economic, environmental and social 

impact;
 Managerial – assessing the deliverability of a route in terms of construction;
 Financial – assessing the cost to build and affordability of each option; and
 Commercial – assessing the value for money, or benefit to cost ratio, of each 

option

5.2 This method, however, did not allow for the scheme’s ‘landscape-led’ vision 
and objectives to be taken into account. HE therefore adapted this method so 
that they could rank each option and score it against how strongly it meets the 
vision, objectives and factors above. As a result of this assessment, five options 
were taken forward for further assessment work. These were Options 3, 21, 24, 
29 and 30 and these five route options can be found on figure 5.

Page 15



6.0 Assessing value for money and affordability

6.1 Results from the previous step suggested that the tunnel options (Options 3, 
21, 24 and 29) would bring greater landscape benefits, but would not offer value 
for money and would be over the cost range allocated for the scheme (£250 
million - £500 million). The surface option (Option 30) was the most affordable of 
the five options. As a result of this, Highways England then assessed the other 
surface options (that had been previously discounted) to see if there were any 
other more affordable options that may be deliverable within the scheme’s cost 
allocation. 

6.2 After this assessment work, it was concluded that one further surface route 
option ‘Option 12’ met the scheme’s objectives and affordability criteria and 
Highways England recommended that this route be taken forward.  Option 12 is 
the route that the (then) Highways Agency presented as a possible solution in 
2003 when the Government last looked at improving the A417 Missing Link.

6.3 Six route options (2 surface options and 4 tunnels) remained and can be 
found in figure 6 below:

Page 16



6.4 The six remaining options were then tested for: 

 Traffic impact
 Road safety
 Environmental impact and opportunities
 Social impact
 Value for money and cost analysis

6.5 All route options performed similarly for the first 4 categories above.  Even in 
the Environmental Impact and Opportunities category the schemes were very 
similar, primarily because, even though there are landscape benefits with tunnels, 
the need to keep the existing A417 reduced these benefits greatly.

6.6 Value for Money and cost.  This is the area where the greatest difference 
between surface options and tunnels can be found.  Cost estimates were 
prepared for each route option as follows:

Option 3 
(tunnel)

Option 12 
(surface)

Option 21 
(tunnel)

Option 24 
(tunnel)

Option 29 
(tunnel)

Option 30 
(surface)

Most likely 
cost

£875m £465m £1,625m £1,210m £1,240m £485m

Return on 
investment*

75 pence 68 pence 47 pence 54 pence 56 pence £1.04

Value for 
money 
rating

Poor Poor Poor Poor Poor Low

*For every £1 spent

7.0 Overall conclusions on sifting and assessment

7.1 After the four step process of identifying and refining possible route options, 
HE has concluded:

 That the tunnel options provide better opportunities to minimise the impact 
on the landscape.

 Tunnel options would, however, still have an adverse environmental and 
visual impact due to the need for tunnel portals and link roads to the 
existing A417 and A436. The existing A417 would be retained.

 Tunnel options demonstrate poor value for money. That means that when 
their benefits are weighed against their significant cost, they would not 
offer a return on their investment for taxpayers.

 All of the tunnel options are also above the allocated cost range for the 
scheme of £250 million to £500 million. While Option 12 (a surface route) 
also offers poor value for money, it falls within the cost range for the 
scheme.

7.2 To ensure that affordable routes that fall within the allocated cost range for 
the scheme are taken forward (£250 million - £500 million), Highways England 
are presenting Option 12 and Option 30 as their proposed route options.

7.3 Highways England having looked at Option 12 and Option 30 in more 
detail has concluded that Option 30 presents greater opportunities to meet the 

Page 17



objectives for the scheme by improving safety, supporting the economy, 
easing congestion and pollution, making the route more convenient for its 
regular users and improving the wellbeing of those who live near it. Option 30 
also offers better value for money for taxpayers’ investment. 

7.4 The assessment undertaken by Highways England concludes that Option 
30 performs better than Option 12 and is therefore Highways England’s 
proposed solution for the A417 Missing Link.

7.5 Highways England has recommended that Option 30 is the preferred 
option. The County Council has the opportunity to comment on the 
consultation document with its stance before the deadline.

8.0 What happens next?

8.1 Consultation closes on 29 March 2018 after which Highways England will 
select their final preferred route and then hold a second consultation, with 
more refined plans available for the single route choice.  This is likely to be in 
Autumn 2018 and will be called the ‘Preferred Route Announcement’, with the 
statutory consultation taking place early in 2019.  A planning application will 
be submitted for the scheme later in 2019.  If planning permission is granted 
construction could start in mid 2021.

8.2 It is important to note that the list of schemes that the Government will 
fund and deliver within the RIS2 period has not yet been announced, and 
although The A417 Missing Link is a “strong contender” for inclusion in the 
programme the funding has not yet been secured.

Page 18



Gloucestershire Brexit Position  AGENDA NO: 4

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

Report author Nigel Riglar – Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure, 
Gloucestershire County Council

Background 
documents

Reports including:
Dhingra et al. 2017. The impact of Brexit on foreign invest in the UK. Paper 
Brexit T03. http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/brexit03.pdf 
ONS, UK foreign direct investment, trends and analysis, January 2018. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/article
s/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-
investment-with-the-european-union 
Department for International Trade Update papers
Gloucestershire SME Export Potential. A report by Shared Intelligence
LGA response, Migration Advisory Committee call for evidence 
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-
migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

As listed above or on request from the report authors.

Main consultees There have been no formal consultees yet for this subject. 

Planned dates N/A

Purpose of report To update and enable the GEGJC to understand the position relating to 
Brexit and to receive a position paper to advise on potential ‘lines of enquiry’ 
and particular issues of relevance to Gloucestershire.

Recommendations

The Joint Committee resolves to:

1. Note the content of the report and consider the ‘lines of enquiry’.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To consider the action which needs to be taken to prepare for a post-Brexit 
scenario.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications associated with this decision. 

Page 19

http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/brexit03.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution


Background 
Joint Committee expressed an interest in understanding the latest position relating to 
Brexit and the possible implications for Gloucestershire. This paper outlines the current 
position and some ‘lines of enquiry’ to consider for the future, once the Brexit position is 
more formally understood nationally. 

At present, there remain three main considerations that create divergences in policy 
and a challenge in delivering a final Brexit position. These are summarised as:

 the length of the transition period and the extent to which the UK is tied to 
EU rules during that period;

 the extent of alignment with EU regulation post-Brexit;
 the customs agreement/customs arrangement deal and the implications of 

that for trading agreements with other countries.

This could lead to two scenarios commonly known as hard and soft Brexit. In these 
cases, there are considerations that must be made including: 

 Hard Brexit: the UK and the EU will not be part of a free trade agreement, which 
means they will charge each other the tariffs that each charge to countries in the 
World Trade Organisation (WTO). Goods passing the EU-UK border will be 
subject to this cost. We might also assume that there will be other barriers to 
international trade (non-tariff barriers) such as custom checks or border controls.

 Soft Brexit: tariffs could remain at zero if the UK joins a free trade area with the 
EU, while other non-tariff barriers are likely to increase. 

Aside from this and since the announcement of the UK’s decision to leave the EU, there 
has been non-trade related uncertainty over many key policies and positions such as 
citizenship, appetite for inward investment, non-domestic workforce as well as key 
EUSIF funding programmes. The Local Government Association has an on-going 
consultation on implications of Brexit and the emerging UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) which is understood to be the successor on a domestic level to the European 
Union Structural and Infrastructure Funds (EUSIF). 

Detail
The government’s ability to make concrete decisions and position statements about 
national policy is hindered until negotiations are further advanced. It is therefore not 
possible to be clear about what the actual impact will be in terms of either new 
opportunities or challenges and what action the council and its partners can take to 
enable businesses in Gloucestershire to increase their productivity and profitability. 

There are a number of areas that should be explored once more detailed policy 
direction has been set. This could form the basis of a review, understanding the 
position from local employers and their employees as well as the County and Districts 
own position relating to finances and workforce. These areas include:

 Considering the current EU funding position and any opportunity to review the 
County’s joint investments; 

Page 20



 Understanding the business base of Gloucestershire and how sectors may be 
impacted; 

 Reviewing the inward investment offer in the light of potential changes in 
trading arrangements;

 Opportunities for exploiting new export markets as a result of new trade 
agreements;

 The need to review skills provision to address the workforce and skills 
requirements of local businesses;

 Concerns expressed by businesses relating to their workforce which rely on 
staff from other European Countries in a variety of sectors;

 Concerns expressed by businesses e.g. in the manufacturing sector that are part 
of complex supply chains that involve the frequent movement of components 
between different European countries.

Funding
Gloucestershire needs to consider what might replace the European Structural 
Investment Fund (ESIF). This means looking at the current round of European Regional 
Development Funds and the ESIF funding to understand any gaps that might appear if 
EU Funding is not replaced. This could involve reviewing remaining funding allocations 
with the LEP, understanding the balance and its potential, and considering where there 
is any scope to re-invest. This should also be part of a wider conversation relating to 
devolution, business rates reform and pooling finance, as with the current business 
rates pool, to broaden the tax base.

Economy
Much of the evidence base created so far by policy think tanks considers a number of 
different measures setting out relative impact of localities. To understand the impact of 
Brexit on the Gloucestershire economy requires consideration of the following 
questions: what sectors are growing or are the largest, what is the dependency for 
these sectors on EU-workers, what sectors could potentially shrink (e.g. through 
automation), and how does this compare to the rest of the UK? 

In considering these questions, a snapshot of research highlights that: 

 Analysis from Localis1 considers three structural labour market risks: migrant 
labour supply, automation of manual jobs and skills base. This measure ranks 
Gloucestershire 12th reflecting low exposure across the three measures. 

 Analysis from the Centre for Cities2 report on the impact of Brexit on GVA 
(output), put Gloucester 30th out of 70 in a list of UK cities with occupations most 
likely to shrink; and ranks Gloucester as 20th out of 62 UK cities based (with 1 
being the hardest hit by hard Brexit and 62 being the least hit). 

 In Gloucester the public sector is a very large employer, there is a very low 
proportion of private to public sector jobs which may reduce the overall impact. 

 The biggest contributors to Gloucestershire’s GVA in 2016 were public services 
(including defence, education and health) followed by wholesale, transport and 
accommodation, and then manufacturing.

1 http://www.localis.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/012_Localis_InPlaceofWork_AWK_REV3.pdf 
2 http://www.centreforcities.org/publication/cities-outlook-2018/ 

Page 21

http://www.localis.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/012_Localis_InPlaceofWork_AWK_REV3.pdf
http://www.centreforcities.org/publication/cities-outlook-2018/


 GCHQ, as a major employer already in the area, is expected to grow in the next 
few years as investment takes place. 

The current review of Gloucestershire’s data intelligence is taking place and will align 
with any future activity relating to Brexit. 

Investment and Trade
Foreign Direct Invest (FDI) raises productivity and wages – through multinational firms 
bringing technical knowledge to the UK and improving the output of domestic firms e.g. 
through tougher competition. Evidence shows3 that being part of the EU is associated 
with positive FDI flows, which is in part due to the easy access the EU single market. At 
this point in time, it is not known how Brexit will affect FDI but the overall considerations 
should consider that:

 The EU is the region that the UK has the greatest inward and outward foreign 
direct investment (FDI) relationships4. 

 In 2016-17 there were 101 new projects from FDI and 3,402 new jobs created in 
the South-West of England5. 

 By sector the largest number of jobs from FDI in the UK were in advanced 
engineering, automotive, business and consumer services, financial services, 
and software and computer services. 

 In 2016 5,810 businesses actively exported in the South West region, and an 
estimated 709 active exporters within the GFirst LEP region. Shared Intelligence 
estimated that 678 exported to non-EU countries (United States, Australia and 
Switzerland the top three destinations) and 177 to EU countries.6

Understanding the overall impact as negotiations proceed will be helpful to ensure what 
action needs to be taken in the long-term to support trade and investment. 

Skills and workforce
All the evidence (although speculative) points to a post-Brexit poorer performing 
national economy. High numbers of non-UK EU nationals work in key services such as 
social care, construction, and local industries such as tourism7. Even without Brexit and 
the skills drain that is likely to occur there are too few high skilled workers and too many 
low and medium-skilled workers8. 

The public sector as a major employer in the County and should therefore consider its 
own workforce and ability to retain its staff, while ensuring replacement demand is 
matched by any immigration challenges. A review of its current workforce and the 
implications of any changes could be considered in the future. 

3 Dhingra et al. 2017. The impact of Brexit on foreign invest in the UK. Paper Brexit T03. http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/brexit03.pdf
4ONS, UK foreign direct investment, trends and analysis, January 2018. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#u
k-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union 
5 Department for International Trade.
6 Gloucestershire SME Export Potential. A report by Shared Intelligence 2017. 
7 LGA response, Migration Advisory Committee call for evidence https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-
migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution 
8 Ibid.

Page 22

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/nationalaccounts/balanceofpayments/articles/ukforeigndirectinvestmenttrendsandanalysis/january2018#uk-foreign-direct-investment-with-the-european-union
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/response-migration-advisory-committee-call-evidence-contribution


Gloucestershire also needs to be prepared to work with the government to create a 
skills system that works for local people and businesses. If Brexit does lead to major job 
losses in the future, Gloucestershire needs to look at ways to mitigate losses and 
improve job prospects for unemployed residents as it is already through its skills 
strategy. 

Next steps
As outlined in the body of this report, there is limited action that can be taken in the 
short-term and until the outcome of the Brexit negotiations are fully understood. 
Notwithstanding this, the locality will continue to: 

 review the evidence base of the County – getting to know the business base, its 
specialisms and challenges with regard to investment, workforce and skills; 

 ensure GFirst LEP engages with its sector groups to understand impact;    
 position itself with any legacy EU funding opportunities; 
 align future business and skills surveys with latest employer feedback.

Page 23



Appendix 1

Wholesale and retail trade is the largest sector in the Gloucestershire economy with 
45,000 jobs in 2016. However, this figure has remained stable since 2009. The second 
largest industry in 2016 – manufacturing – has grown by 6% (+2,000 jobs) between 
2015 and 2016.

Figure 1: Industrial sections in Gloucestershire, 2016

% of total employment

Over the 2015-2016 period Accommodation and Food Services has grown by 10% 
(+2,000 jobs). Experimental statistics from the ONS for the 2015-2016 period shows 
that this sector was the second largest employer of EU nationals. Continued growth in 
this sector might be important to mitigate any potential shortage of workers in this 
sector. Further analysis is required to see how the size of these sectors compare to the 
rest of the UK and to see who the major trading partners are for Gloucestershire and 
the South-West for each individual industry. 

Evidence base
There are a number of reports published in the recent past which consider different 
measurements of impact. Localis considers the Impact of Brexit on the labour market, 
considering migrant labour supply, automation of manual jobs and skills base as its key 
measures while Centre for Cities and Nesta consider impact of Brexit on output (GVA, 
Brexit and trade barriers). These particular reports also consider different geographies 

Page 24



– urban densities vs. strategic authorities. It is key at this juncture to look at a broad 
base to consider the areas which may require focus at a later date.  

Localis map of aggregate risk exposure of the country’s 47 Strategic Authorities. This 
places Gloucestershire at a low risk level. 

Recent evidence from NESTA (built on by the Centre for Cities) looks at the jobs which 
are most at risk of shrinking be that through automation, globalisation or Brexit. The 
results for the UK below show that over half (53.1%) of the minor occupation groups are 
linked strongly to administrative and customer service work. 

Jobs at risk of shrinking
Minor occupation group   Share of all jobs 
at risk (%)
Sales assistants and retail cashiers 19.5
Other administrative occupations 11.0
Customer service occupations 9.0
Administrative occupations: finance 7.0
Elementary storage occupations 6.6

Page 25



Source: Bakhshi et al. 2017, Future of Skills: Employment in 2030, London: Nesta and Pearson; ONS 2017, Business Register of 
Employment Survey; Census 2011.

Impact of Brexit on Local Authorities (% change Gross Valued Added)
Local authority                                      Soft Brexit                                Hard Brexit
Hardest hit: City of London -1.9 -4.3
Gloucester -1.4 -2.5
Cheltenham -1.2 -2.4
Tewkesbury -1.2 -2.1
Cotswold -1.1 -2.1
Forest of Dean -0.8 -1.4
Least hit: Hounslow -0.2 -0.5

Source: Dhingra et al. 2017, The Local Economic Effects of Brexit, Paper No’ CEPBREXIT10, LSE. 

Finally, research by the Centre for Economic Performance at the London School of 
Economics looks at the local impacts of the increases in trade barriers associated with 
Brexit, focusing on soft and hard Brexit. The primary urban area of Gloucester features 
as the 20th out of 62 ‘hardest hit’ location by the impact of Brexit on economic output 
(measured by Gross Value Added and ranked by hard Brexit). 

The variation in LA level shocks is considerably higher under hard Brexit. Gloucester 
and Cheltenham are in the top quartile of hardest hit locations from a hard Brexit, while 
Tewkesbury and Cotswold are in the second to bottom quartile, and Forest of Dean is 
in the least hit quartile based on projected changed in GVA. The research suggests this 
is because some local authorities are particularly specialised in sectors that are 
expected to be badly hit by hard Brexit. 

Page 26



UPDATE ON STRATEGIC PLANNING IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

Meeting GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 
(GEGJC)

Report Author Mike Dawson
Chair of GEGJC Senior Officer Group
Tel: 01684 272001
e- mail: mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Background 
documents

N/A

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A

Main Consultees District council strategic planning sections
Planned Dates N/A
Purpose of report This report provides an update on the status of the strategic plans 

that have been progressed by the Gloucestershire planning 
authorities and details the levels of planned growth identified.

Recommendations 1. To NOTE the update on the progress of strategic plan making 
by the Gloucestershire authorities, the amount of growth 
being planned for, and identified key delivery projects. 

Reason for 
recommendations

To ensure that the committee is aware of the status of strategic 
planning across the county.

Resource 
Implications

N/A

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Each of the Gloucestershire planning authorities have made significant progress with 
their strategic planning documents with the JCS authorities, Stroud, and Forest of 
Dean having adopted plans in place and Cotswolds being significantly progressed at 
main modifications stage of their examination. These plans set out the housing and 
employment growth requirements for their respective areas as well as identifying 
major development projects that will help to deliver it. This paper provides an update 
on these plans and some of the key projects.
 

1.2 The report below sets out the individual growth needs for each plan area. However, 
in total the strategic plans in Gloucestershire identify the need for a total of 61,500 
new homes and 342ha of employment land. 

2.0 STROUD DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN

2.1 The Stroud District Local Plan was adopted in November 2015 and covers the period 
from 2006 to 2031. The plan identifies the following growth requirements:

 Housing: 11,400
 Employment land: 58ha
 Jobs: up to 12,500

Page 27

mailto:mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


2.2 To deliver the growth required, the local plan identifies a number of strategic sites 
that will meet a significant proportion of the housing requirement. These sites are as 
follows:

Site Homes Employment land 
(ha)

Hunts Grove Extension 750
Quedgeley East 13
North East Cam 450 12
Sharpness 300 17
Stroud Valleys 450
West of Stonehouse 1,350 10

2.3 Housing delivery has been strong within Stroud and as of 31 March 2017 there had 
already been 4,623 dwellings completed and a further 5,802 had received planning 
permission. The council can currently demonstrate a 6.75 years supply of housing 
land. As at 31 March 2017 employment land completions totalled 25 hectares with 44 
hectares having received permission.  
 

2.4 The council has already started a review of the plan to ensure that it remains up to 
date and meets future needs for the next 20 year period. The reviewed plan will cover 
the period from 2016-2036. An issues and options consultation was conducted in 
Autumn 2017 which discussed emerging issues and potential strategy options to 
meet future development needs, including a growth point option. Adoption of the new 
plan is anticipated in 2021/22.

3. JOINT CORE STRATEGY

3.1 The Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was 
adopted in December 2017 and covers the period between 2011 and 2031. The plan 
identifies the following growth requirements:

 Homes: 35,175
 Employment land: 192ha
 Jobs: 39,500

3.2 To deliver this growth, the JCS identifies a number of large strategic allocations as 
urban extensions to Gloucester and Cheltenham that will make a significant 
contribution to delivering both housing and employment growth. These are as follows:

Site Homes Employment land 
(ha)

Innsworth & Twigworth 2,295 9.1
South Churchdown 1,100 17.4
North Brockworth 1,500 3
North West Cheltenham 4,285 23.4
West Cheltenham 1,100 45
Ashchurch 14.3
Winneycroft 620

3.3 In addition to these allocations there had been joint working with Wychavon District 
Council on a site at Mitton, within Wychavon but on the edge of Tewkesbury town, 
contributing towards Tewkesbury’s housing needs. The sites at Innsworth & 
Twigworth, North Brockworth, Ashchurch and Winneycroft are already subject to 
outline planning consents which cover a significant part, if not the entire, site. South 

Page 28



Churchdown and North West Cheltenham are currently subject to live planning 
applications and West Cheltenham is undergoing detailed pre-application 
discussions. The next key phase of the JCS is to work with developers and 
infrastructure providers to deliver these sites.

3.4 Delivery in the JCS area has been strong and as of 31 March 2017 7,910 dwellings 
had been built in the area with a further 7,392 dwellings committed through planning 
consents.

3.5 The JCS is also subject to an immediate review on housing supply for Tewkesbury 
Borough and Gloucester as well as a retail/town centre review for the whole area. 
With regards to new homes, the JCS identifies a housing shortfall of around 2,400 
homes for Tewkesbury Borough and 1,000 homes for Gloucester. An immediate 
review is required to find and identify additional allocations to meet these needs. With 
regards to retail, an immediate review is required to update an assessment of retail 
needs and to explore the allocation of strategic retail sites in accordance with a 
retail/town centre strategy. The retail review is already underway and is scheduled to 
be completed in 2019. A proposed project scope for the immediate housing review is 
to be considered by the JCS Strategic Issues Board in March 2018. This will include 
the potential to work more closely with Stroud District and that Council’s review 
process. 

3.6 Outside of the strategic allocations, each of the JCS authorities also have an 
identified district capacity which is to be met by smaller-scale allocations made 
through district-level plans that will sit underneath the JCS. These will be the 
Cheltenham Plan, the Gloucester City Plan and the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. All 
three authorities are well progressed with these plans and all are expected to be 
adopted in 2019/20.

4.0 FOREST OF DEAN CORE STRATEGY & ALLOCATIONS PLAN

4.1 The Forest of Dean Core Strategy was adopted on 2012 and covers the period from 
2006 to 2026. The council has also been progressed an associated Allocations Plan 
which covers the same period and this is currently at main modifications stage of its 
examination. The examination of the Allocations Plan included a review of housing 
need and therefore the following growth requirements are identified:

 Housing: 6,600
 Employment land: 68ha

4.2 The Allocations Plan contains a large number of allocations of different scales across 
the settlements within the Forest of Dean. However, the more larger scale sites 
include the following:

Site Homes Employment land (ha)
Cinderford (inc approx. 240 
homes in Northern Quarter*) 515 12

Coleford 371 8
Lydney 1,750 40
Newent 350 5

Tutshill/Sedbury 240
Other Villages 510

* as identified in the 2012 adopted Cinderford Northern Quarter Area Action Plan

Page 29



4.3 The plan period runs from 2006 to 2026 and about 3026 dwellings (net) of the 20 
year requirement of 6600 had been completed up to March 31 2017.

5.0 COTSWOLD DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN

5.1 The Cotswold District Local Plan is currently at the main modifications stage of its 
examination and covers the period from 2011 to 2031. The plan identifies the 
following growth requirements:

 Housing: 8,400
 Employment land: 24ha

5.2 The Local Plan presents a number of allocations across settlements within the 
Cotswolds district. The majority of allocations are smaller scale sites dispersed 
across the area. However, there is one strategic scale allocation proposed at 
Chesterton at Cirencester which is to make a significant contribution towards the 
area’s needs. The larger sites include the following:

Site Homes Employment land (ha)
Chesterton, Cirencester 2,350 (1,800 within 

Plan period)
9.1

Fosseway Ave, Moreton in 
Marsh 

119

Fire Services College, 
Moreton-In-Marsh

7.0

5.3 As of 31 March 2017, there had already been completions totalling 3,176 dwellings 
with a further commitment of 2,870 already granted planning permission. These 
include, for example, approximately 800 dwellings at Tetbury, 900 at Moreton-In-
Marsh and 1000 at Cirencester.  

6.0 KEY DELIVERY PROJECTS

6.1 As the strategic plans move from adoption, the next key step is facilitating the 
delivery of the plans and the growth objectives and site allocations set out within 
them. Some of the key projects currently underway are discussed below.

6.1.2 North West Cheltenham Strategic Allocation
A planning application for North West Cheltenham has been submitted jointly to 
Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough Councils. The councils are working closely 
with the developers and infrastructure providers to progress the application to ensure 
the timely delivery of development. Transport infrastructure is a key component of 
these discussions and how the traffic impact of the site is managed. 

6.1.3 West Cheltenham Cyber Park
The GFirst LEP, Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucestershire County Council and 
Cheltenham Development Taskforce have been working on the development of a 
‘cyber hub’ as part of the West Cheltenham strategic allocation. Through this work a 
successful bid was made for £22m funding to help deliver the development of the 
cyber hub. Close working is being undertaken with the developers and infrastructure 
providers to progress the site towards a planning application. Transport infrastructure 
is again a key component of these discussions and how the traffic impact of the site 
is managed. The development of this site, as with North West Cheltenham, is linked 
to the future improvements of the M5 J10. 

Page 30



6.1.4 Junction 9/Ashchurch Masterplan
Tewkesbury Borough Council has commissioned Building Design Partnership (BDP) 
consultants, to undertake master planning work for the Ashchurch area to look at the 
potential to deliver strategic level housing and employment growth in the area. This 
work will help to inform the JCS immediate review on housing supply for Tewkesbury 
and will identify where short-term delivery is possible, but it will also take a longer-
term look at the growth and infrastructure requirements for the Borough beyond the 
current JCS plan period. The Borough Council has recently been successful in 
gaining £8.1m funding through the Housing Infrastructure Fund which will be used to 
provide new access across the railway line to the north of Ashchurch to unlock 
development land. 

6.1.5 Strategic Site south of Chesterton, Cirencester
Land to the south of Chesterton, Cirencester is allocated for mixed used 
development, including up to 2,350 dwellings that incorporates up to 40% affordable 
housing and approximately 9.1 hectares of B1, B2 and B8 employment land. It is 
anticipated that about 1800 dwellings will be completed during the plan period with 
the remainder coming forward after 2031. The policy requires development of the site 
to be master planned and supported by a wide range of infrastructure including a 
school, healthcare and community facilities, together with highways improvements.

In January 2018 Cotswold District Council granted outline planning permission for 
development of the site by Bathurst Development Ltd.

6.1.6 Cinderford Northern Quarter
Mixed use regeneration area spearheaded by the new Gloucestershire College for 
the Forest is now under construction.  This Includes housing and employment 
allocations and a spine road the first phase of which is now complete.  This has been 
supported by HCA (as they then were) and land is in public ownership (FoDDC and 
Homes England).

6.1.7 Lydney Harbour Regeneration
A comprehensive scheme to safeguard and protect the docks and harbour and 
realise their full potential whilst supporting a major private sector investment centred 
on a former factory, to provide jobs and a recreational/ tourism opportunity.

6.1.8 West of Stonehouse Strategic Allocation
Outline planning permission for 1,350 dwellings, local centre and 10 hectares of 
employment land was granted in April 2016. Reserved matters were approved in May 
2017 for infrastructure to serve Phase 1. Developers were on site September 2017. 
Redrow and Barratt Homes/David Wilson Homes are delivering the first housing 
phases. The delivery of employment parcels is linked to progress with initial housing 
phases to ensure balanced growth of homes and jobs. The implementation of phases 
is being managed via area masterplans.  

6.1.9 Hunts Grove Extension/Quedgeley East Strategic Allocations
A re-negotiated outline permission for Hunts Grove was granted in July 2016 for 
1,750 dwellings, school and local centre. 342 dwellings have been built to date. An 
application for Hunts Grove Extension (750 dwellings) is expected by the end of 
2018. Crest Nicholson will oversee delivery as main developer with partner 
developers developing sub areas within the masterplan. An outline application was 
submitted in August 2016 by St Modwen for 25 hectares of employment land at 
Quedgeley East. Capacity issues at the M5 J12 have delayed determination of this 
application to date. As with other projects at Sharpness Docks (M5 J14) and EcoPark 
(M5 J13) Highways England has issued holding objections to examine M5 junction 

Page 31



capacity issues.

7.0 NEXT STEPS

7.1 More detailed reports on the key development projects will be reported back to the 
Committee as these projects progress.  

Page 32



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee 
meeting Wednesday 29 November 2017 at Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Present: 

Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Bruce Hogan

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Dawn Melvin
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Jim Dewey

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Matt Babbage,(Gloucestershire County Council), 
and from Cllr Martin Whiteside (Stroud District Council). Cllr Whiteside was 
represented at the meeting by Cllr Jim Dewey.  

2. MINUTES 

The actions from the meeting held on 6 September 2017 were noted and updated.  

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2017 were confirmed as an 
accurate record of that meeting. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. GLOUCESTERSHIRE CONNECTS STUDY 

The Chairman welcomed Martin Revill, Market Director for SYSTRA and Project 
Director for Gloucestershire Connects Study to the meeting. 

Introducing the item, the Chairman explained Martin had been invited to deliver a 
presentation to the Economic Growth Joint Committee earlier that day, advising 
members of a Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) Commissioned Study of 
transport connections for the future, (item 4 of the Joint Committee agenda). 

Martin confirmed that the purpose of the study was to consider the ‘future role of 
road and rail in supporting strategic connectivity in Gloucestershire by 2050’, and to 
generate committee discussion on some of the initial themes and challenges 
emerging from the first phase of the project. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Martin informed members that the initial phase of the study had involved SYSTRA 
consulting with a wide range of stakeholders in Gloucestershire, including transport 
operators and agencies and with emerging sub-national transport bodies from 
neighbouring areas. The consultation had been supplemented with a review of 
important policy and planning documents, the key findings of which had been 
presented at the Joint Committee meeting to consider any concerns about 
Gloucestershire’s future connectivity. 

The outcome of the presentation to the Joint Committee and the subsequent 
discussion at the Scrutiny Committee meeting, would help shape the later stages of 
the study, for which work was ongoing. Scrutiny members had been invited to the 
Joint Committee meeting to consider the presentation made earlier that day.  

Questions to be considered as part of the study, to include: - 

i. What transport corridors are most important to Gloucestershire’s future?
ii. Is Gloucestershire marginalised by its geography?
iii. What is the likely impact of the toll removal from the M4 Severn Bridge?
iv. What impact will investment in the county’s traditional infrastructure, (road 

and rail links), have?
v. How important is connectivity to new infrastructure, including HS2, to 

Gloucestershire?
vi. How will technology change the way we travel, for example, electric 

vehicles?
vii. How will future lifestyles change the way we travel, for example; ageing 

population; lifestyles of younger people; the rise of global cities and 
increasing urbanisation. 

The scrutiny committee welcomed the opportunity to ask questions and highlighted 
a number of key issues for SYSTRA to incorporate into the study. 

These included; Access to and from the Forest of Dean; improvement works on the 
A417 Missing Link between the Brockworth Bypass and Cowley roundabout; rail 
links; junctions on the M5 Motorway at Stroud and Tewkesbury. 

Referencing the potential impact of housing needs and commercial development on 
the county, it was suggested the use of Gloucestershire’s river network be 
considered as part of the study. 

The information was noted.

5. EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS 

a) ESF Skills and Employability Update Report 

The committee noted the Employment and Skills Update Report that had been 
presented to the Economic Growth Joint Committee earlier that day and invited to 
submit any questions to Pete Carr: Lead Commissioner – Skills and Employment. 

Page 34



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The report provided an update on several aspects of employment and skills in 
Gloucestershire, including an overview of the five skills projects in Gloucestershire 
receiving funding from the European Social Fund (ESF) and contracted through the 
Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA). The report also provided an update on 
the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board (GESB), which had met for the 
first time in October 2017. Chairman of the Economic Growth Joint Committee, Cllr 
Lynden Stowe is a member of the board. 

b) LEP European ESF (European Social Fund) Funded Project 
Presentations 

To assist member’s understanding of the progress of some of the LEP European 
ESF (European Social Fund) Funded Projects currently underway in 
Gloucestershire, the committee received detailed presentations on the Learn Direct 
‘Work Start Gloucestershire’ Project and the South Gloucestershire and Stroud 
College EDGE (work experience) and (apprenticeship support) Projects. 

i. Learn Direct ‘Work Start Gloucestershire’ Project

Natasha Panchbhaya: Business Manager at Learn Direct and Naomi Lavender: 
Manager, presented information on the Gloucestershire Work Start Project. 
Clarifying that the project, (at the request of the LEP), prioritised people with 
disabilities; carers; people living in rural areas; young people not in employment, 
and people with mild to moderate mental health and learning issues, as priority 
groups, the presenters outlined some of the strengths and weaknesses of the 
project, plus an overview of anticipated threats and opportunities. Launched in 
November 2016, it was reported that the 3-year project had only just completed its 
first year of operation and that better understanding of the return from the 
investment was anticipated over the course of the next two years. 

ii. Education Developing Gloucestershire’s Employability (EDGE) Project

Sara-Jane Watkins, Principal of the South Gloucestershire and Stroud College 
presented information on the Edge and Goal Partnerships. Sara-Jane outlined the 
aims of each of the projects and gave examples of some of the work experience 
placements that had been undertaken at the Coronium Museum, Cirencester and 
Berkeley Castle. 
 

iii. Growing Opportunities for Apprenticeships (GOAL)
Sara-Jane informed members that the GOAL project was assisting in raising the 
awareness of apprenticeships, including what apprenticeships were available to 
local businesses. Outlining the support being provided to employees during the 
early phases of the apprenticeship, Sara-Jane explained that more understanding 
was being offered on how apprenticeships could support the future growth and 
sustainability of local businesses. 

The presentations received mixed responses, with members asking a wide range of 
robust questions on some of the more financial and operational aspects of the 
projects. 

Page 35



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

After the meeting, the committee has received open invitations to visit both 
organisations to observe some of the work being carried out on each of the 
projects. 

6. GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE/GFIRST LEP 
UPDATE 

Having noted the information reports considered at the Economic Growth Joint 
Committee meeting held earlier that day, the committee made specific reference to 
concerns about the impact of Brexit on the economic growth for Gloucestershire, 
and the award of European Funding.

Requesting information on the consequences of leaving the European Union, and 
having considered a proposal that the committee write to Gloucestershire MP’s to 
lobby the government on promoting continued funding, post EU departure, the 
committee was advised that, until a comprehensive assessment of the financial 
position could be made in March 2019, it was difficult to consider the likely 
outcomes. 

David Owen, Chief Executive of Gloucestershire GFirst LEP and Nigel Riglar, 
Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, noted the committee’s 
concerns and agreed to produce a briefing note on suggested key lines of enquiry 
for consideration at the committee meeting on 14 March 2018.

At the GCC Group Leader meeting on 1 December 2017, it was suggested the 
Economic Growth Joint Committee lead on this aspect of work, with input from the 
Scrutiny Committee. It is proposed a briefing note will presented at the Joint 
Committee meeting on 14 March 2018, with input from the Scrutiny Committee later 
that day. .
 
Committee members were notified of the launch of the ‘Vision 2050 Big 
Conversation’ at Cheltenham Racecourse on Thursday 1 February 2018.

To find out more on the launch of Vision 2050, members are encouraged to visit: 
https://glos2050.com

7. WORK PLAN 

Copies of the updated committee work plan were circulated with the agenda. 

The following updates were noted at the meeting: - 

Committee Meeting - 22 February 2018

The meeting to be held at the Cotswold District Council Offices to consider 
Cotswold District Issues and Priorities.  

Following a request from Cotswold County Councillor, Paul Hodgkinson, the issue 
of ‘Mobile Phone Coverage in Rural Areas’ to form part of the discussion. A position 

Page 36

http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbXNpZD0mYXVpZD0mbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTgwMTA0LjgzMTc1NTgxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE4MDEwNC44MzE3NTU4MSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE3MDI1MjAyJmVtYWlsaWQ9am8ubW9vcmVAZ2xvdWNlc3RlcnNoaXJlLmdvdi51ayZ1c2VyaWQ9am8ubW9vcmVAZ2xvdWNlc3RlcnNoaXJlLmdvdi51ayZ0YXJnZXRpZD0mZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&100&&&https://glos2050.com


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

statement to be included in the agenda pack for members to consider before the 
meeting.

Committee Meeting - 14 March 2018

At the scrutiny committee meeting on 29 November 2017, members requested a 
briefing on ‘what issues/aspects of the impact of Brexit the committee/GCC might 
need to consider in preparation for leaving the EU. Nigel (Riglar) and David (Owen) 
suggested a paper on ‘key lines of enquiry’ be considered at the 14 March 2018 
meeting. Members were advised no proper analysis could be done ahead of the 
March 2019 deal. 

Subsequent to this, at a Gloucestershire Leader’s Group Meeting on 1 December 
2017, Cotswold County Councillor, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson mentioned that ‘Cornwall 
Council had set up work streams to look at specific aspects of Brexit and noted that 
a recent presentation to the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee had indicated 
that Gloucestershire could lose significant sums currently available through the 
European Social Fund. Cllr Hodgkinson suggested the Council should be doing 
more to analyse the potential impact of Brexit with regular updates provided to 
members’. At the same meeting, Cllr Mark Hawthorne referred to a study the LGA 
was due to launch in February 2018 and highlighted the difficulties in considering 
the impact of Brexit on Gloucestershire prior to March 2019. After further 
discussion, it was agreed the Joint Economic Growth Committee, on which the six 
district councils and GFirst LEP are represented, was the appropriate place for the 
matter to be raised.  

Based on this information, it was agreed the matter would be considered at the next 
Joint Committee meeting on 14 March 2018 and a position statement considered 
later the same day under the LEP/Joint Committee update item at the scrutiny 
committee meeting. A course of action to be agreed under the committee work plan 
item.

Vision 2050 Update 

Members requested an update on Vision 2050 and were notified of the Vision 2050 
Launch taking place on 1 February 2018. It was agreed that an update would be 
provided at the scrutiny committee meeting on 14 March 2018.  
Committee Meeting - 31 October 2018 - Cheltenham Borough Council Issues and 
Priorities. (The meeting to be held at the Cheltenham Borough Council Offices). 

8. FUTURE MEETINGS 

22 February 2018
14 March 2018
20 June 2018
5 September 2018
31 October 2018
21 November 2018

Page 37



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 4.15 pm

Page 38



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee held 
at the Cotswold District Council Offices on Thursday 22 February 2018. 

Present: Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Colin Hay

Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Dawn Melvin

1. WELCOME 

Chairman of the Committee, Cllr Dave Norman, opened the meeting by thanking 
Cotswold District Council for hosting the meeting. 

Explaining that the purpose of the meeting was to focus on issues relating 
specifically to the economic agenda of the Cotswold District and for members to 
consider proposals on how engagement between the Gloucestershire First Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee, the Joint Scrutiny Committee and the District Authorities might be 
improved, the Chairman informed members that, from the discussion, an outcome 
report would be produced, incorporating the responses to any questions considered 
at the meeting. 

2. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Martin Whiteside, (Stroud District Council), 
Bruce Hogan, (Forest of Dean District Council), Stephen Davies (Gloucestershire 
County Council), and Matt Babbage (Gloucestershire County Council). 

There were no substitutions at the meeting. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. MINUTES 

The actions from the meeting held on 29 November 2017 were noted. 

Detailed minutes of the meeting to be considered at the committee meeting on 14 
March 2018

5. COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Inviting local committee members, Cllrs Stephen Hirst and Joe Harris, to set out 
their aspirations for the discussion, the Chairman invited members and officers from 

Page 39



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Cotswold District Council to give an overview, (from an economic growth 
perspective), of issues affecting the local economy and growth ambitions of the 
Cotswold District. 

The Chairman introduced Cllr Christopher Hancock, Cabinet Member for Enterprise 
and Partnerships, Nigel Adams, Head of Paid Service and James Brain, Forward 
Planning Manager for the District Council to present information on behalf of 
Cotswold District Council.  

The Chairman also introduced David Owen - Chief Executive of the Gloucestershire 
First LEP; Pete Carr - Lead Commissioner: Skills and Employment; Nigel Riglar - 
Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure at Gloucestershire County 
Council and Angela Presdee - Lead Officer for Economic Growth and Development 
at Gloucestershire County Council. 

Cllr Norman informed members that there would be an opportunity for local 
members to ask questions on the work of the Gloucestershire First LEP and 
Gloucestershire Growth Deal at the meeting.

Cabinet Member, Cllr Christopher Hancock, opened the presentation by informing 
members that the Cotswold District was not unique in the economic challenges it 
faced. Explaining the process for adoption of the Cotswold Business Development 
Plan, the cabinet member stated that the aim of the business plan was to protect 
and enhance the local environment, whilst striving to support the economic growth 
of the local area. 

Nigel Adams, Head of Paid Service, reiterated the importance of the Business 
Development Plan in meeting the council’s key priorities of i) providing high quality 
services; ii) championing specific issues and iii) protecting the local environment. 
The business plan would also ensure sustainability in the future. 

James Brain, Forward Plan Manager outlined some of the specific challenges to the 
Cotswold economy. These included; lack of productivity, housing need, the impact 
of an ageing population, and the need to invest in the local infrastructure. 

Setting out the corporate objectives and tasks from which to support the business 
plan and local strategies, the Forward Plan Manager reinforced the need to support 
the local economy from joint working with the LEP and other agencies and 
communities within the district to remove any barriers to the creation of new 
employment opportunities; supporting sustainable tourism; investigating new means 
of increasing the number of international visitors to the Cotswolds; and improving 
the wider economic growth of the county from improved strategic decision making 
and better utilisation of public sector resources and infrastructure development. 

The Forward Plan Manager explained that the basis of the Business Development 
Plan aimed to address the needs of local businesses; provide support to 
competitive town centres, and help create and develop a more prosperous rural 
economy. 

Page 40



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Outlining some of the headline facts that characterised the local economy, the 
Forward Plan Manager informed members there had been strong job growth within 
the district since 2010, with the local economy supporting approximately 52,000 
jobs, equating to a total economic value of between £1.69 billion and £1.86 billion. 
A high proportion of the jobs are leisure and recreational based; construction; real 
estate, engineering, secondary education, computer programming and consultancy. 
Retail and visitor economy based industries continue to reflect some of the most 
important industries within the District

A significant concern impacting on the local area was the net loss of B Class 
employment land since 2011. Concerns surrounding this issue have resulted in the 
district council seeking to allocate new employment land, while continuing to 
promote and safeguard existing business locations. 

Other key issues affecting the local economy included; the limitations imposed by 
some of the transport links to the area, (with particular emphasis on the A417 
Missing Link Highway), poor broadband and mobile phone coverage in rural areas; 
the below average earnings; the outward migration of young people; the impact of 
house prices within the area; and the potential impact of bidding for National Park 
status on the district’s planning and development proposals.

Noting the significantly higher representation of smaller enterprises located within 
the district, (89% of businesses represent micro businesses and 9% of businesses 
employ up to 49 employees), it was pleasing to acknowledge that the district 
continued to maintain a strong and growing business base, even throughout a 
period of recession.  

Members were advised that, approximately 55 enterprises within the Cotswold 
District employed between 50 and 249 employees, with only 10 enterprises 
employing over 250 employees. Education and skills remained a priority, with 
increased emphasis placed on raising awareness of the value of apprenticeships. 

Another consideration highlighted during the discussion was the number of people 
commuting to and from the district for employment purposes, with 15,709 people 
commuting from other districts, balanced against 13,820 people travelling out of the 
district to work in other districts. 

Summarising some of the key strengths and weaknesses represented by the area, 
members acknowledged the strength and potential of the ‘Cotswold’ brand, a brand 
that continues to be of significant value to the district. Other strengths included, the 
architectural and environmental heritage of the area and the number of research, 
education and training institutes. In terms of weakness, however, this needed to be 
balanced against the problem of attracting and retaining younger people, including 
graduates and apprenticeships, to work and live in the area. 

Another notable weakness highlighted during the discussion was the low rental 
value of commercial properties in the district, currently considered too low a value 
to attract interest from property developers to invest in providing speculative 
developments. 

Page 41



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Potential opportunities identified during the discussion included; interest from key 
employers to expand existing sites; opportunities to grow significant micro 
enterprises; the growth in scientific, professional and technology industries; and 
anticipated opportunities from Gloucestershire 2050 initiatives and Brexit. 

Acknowledging the perception that the district had a strong business confidence, 
such a perception was not necessarily shared by the whole of the district. Whilst 
Brexit was seen as providing some opportunities, it was also seen as creating 
potential threats to the local economy. Another potential threat was the loss of 
employment land to create residential and retail development. 

The Forward Plan Manager gave a detailed account of the Local Business Plan, 
including the local plan polices designed to help the plan progress. He also outlined 
some of the draft economic proposals and initiatives put forward as options to help 
grow the economy, including the ‘Cotswold is open for business’ campaign and 
initiatives introduced to promote the better strategic management of assets, 
including use of land. 

In conclusion, the Forward Plan Manager put forward a number of ‘asks’ the local 
authority wanted the GFirst LEP to consider as potential initiatives for the future. 
These included: - 

i. Endorsement of, and support in implementing the Cotswold Business 
Implementation Plan; 

ii. Endorsement of the Royal Agricultural University Growth Bid; 
iii. A Physical Growth Hub Presence; 
iv. Brokerage for Apprenticeships; 
v. Key Stakeholder Engagement; 
vi. Cotswold Parking Study Update/Implementation; 
vii. Business Support – Signposting 
viii. Business Support – Assistance to address loss of business premises

The Forward Plan Manager also outlined a number of challenges and perceptions 
the local authority had put forward as potential barriers to growth. These included: - 

i. The perception that the LEP struggled to understand the council’s economic 
priorities and needs; 

ii. If this perception was considered a reality, the local authority questioned why 
the disconnect existed, and what could the Council, (and other Councils), do 
to better articulate its needs and ultimately access funding to deliver 
economic growth; 

iii. The Cotswold Business Implementation Plan and strategic priorities were 
described as robust and evidenced based – the local authority requested 
that the council and partners be allowed to embrace and own the required 
actions; 

iv. It was suggested that; fundamental to everything was the relationship 
between GFirst LEP, businesses and local communities. Collaboration 
between each of the factions was vital to the economic growth of the district. 

Page 42



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Following a series of in-depth questions and observations from scrutiny members, 
local members were invited to ask questions of the GFirst LEP. The majority of 
questions were submitted prior to the meeting, supplemented by a number of other 
questions asked at the meeting. 

Detailed responses to the following questions will be provided after the meeting.  

1) Small and Micro businesses in rural areas have a number of unique 
challenges.  Small towns, such as Fairford, may try to retain buildings and 
areas as business premises in order to provide both vitality to those towns 
and employment opportunities to local residents, but current planning 
measures are failing to protect them. The result is a steady transformation of 
business premises/areas into residential use.  This prevents a micro 
enterprise that, assuming adequate communications, may be looking to grow 
out of its SOHO background into a larger business unless it moves to a 
larger centre, such as Cirencester.

What measures are GFirst LEP taking/planning to support the indigenous 
growth of micro businesses across the Cotswolds, e.g. by providing support 
to multi-occupancy/shared business space that can be used to assist such 
fledgling businesses in their growth?

2) On a similar theme, what is the role of GFirst LEP in attracting 
investors/companies to take up the employment land allocations in the 
Local Plan?

3) Is there any specific role that GFirst LEP could play, or any support they 
could offer, in helping to maintain the viability of our town centres 
(particularly in the market towns)?

4) The Council recognises that the Local Plan and its objectives need actions 
and interventions to ensure that the Local Plan is implemented successfully, 
and has submitted this to the Inspector to demonstrate its commitment to 
doing things differently.

5) How can GFirst help with definition of the interventions, securing maximum 
value, skills opportunities together with marketing and delivery?

6) Can GFirst provide good examples of business cases bringing sites to the 
market; and what funds are available to support development of this?

7) How can we establish better links, and enable a closer working relationship 
with, the LEP – How have other councils achieved this?

8) How do we secure a presence in The Growth Hub, and what might that look 
like?

9) How can we ensure/enable full high speed broadband and mobile phone 
coverage across the District and, perhaps more importantly, ensure that 
advances in technology are applied in the future?

Page 43



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

10)How can we best seek to support the apparent momentum in securing a 
solution to the A417 ‘Missing Link’?

An outcome report of the key messages from the meeting, including the responses 
to the questions raised during the discussion will be considered under the work plan 
item at the committee meeting on 14 March 2018. 

6. WORK PLAN 

Copies of the updated committee work plan were circulated with the agenda. 

The following updates were noted prior to the meeting: -  

Committee Meeting - 14 March 2018

At the scrutiny committee meeting on 29 November 2017, members requested a 
briefing on ‘what issues/aspects of the impact of Brexit the committee/GCC might 
need to consider in preparation for leaving the EU. Nigel (Riglar) and David (Owen) 
suggested a paper on ‘key lines of enquiry’ be considered at the 14 March 2018 
meeting. Members were advised no proper analysis could be done ahead of the 
March 2019 deal. 

Subsequent to this, at a Gloucestershire Leader’s Group Meeting on 1 December 
2017, Cotswold County Councillor, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson mentioned that ‘Cornwall 
Council had set up work streams to look at specific aspects of Brexit and noted that 
a recent presentation to the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee had indicated 
that Gloucestershire could lose significant sums currently available through the 
European Social Fund. Cllr Hodgkinson suggested the Council should be doing 
more to analyse the potential impact of Brexit with regular updates provided to 
members’. At the same meeting, Cllr Mark Hawthorne referred to a study the LGA 
was due to launch in February 2018 and highlighted the difficulties in considering 
the impact of Brexit on Gloucestershire prior to March 2019. After further 
discussion, it was agreed the Joint Economic Growth Committee, on which the six 
district councils and GFirst LEP are represented, was the appropriate place for the 
matter to be raised.  

Based on this information, it was agreed the matter would be considered at the next 
Joint Committee meeting on 14 March 2018 and a position statement considered 
later the same day under the LEP/Joint Committee update item at the scrutiny 
committee meeting. A course of action to be agreed under the committee work plan 
item.

Vision 2050 Update 

At the November committee meeting, members requested an update on Vision 
2050. 

Page 44



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Following invitations to the Vision 2050 Launch at Cheltenham Race Course on 1 
February 2018, it was agreed an update would be provided at the scrutiny 
committee meeting on 14 March 2018.  

Committee Meeting - 31 October 2018 - Cheltenham Borough Council Issues and 
Priorities. (This meeting will be held at the Cheltenham Borough Council Offices). 

7. FUTURE MEETINGS 

14 March 2018
20 June 2018
5 September 2018
31 October 2018 (Cheltenham Borough Council) 
21 November 2018

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 4.15 pm

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



GFirst LEP Update for GEGJC meeting 14th March 2018
Prepared by Dev Chakraborty (Deputy Chief Executive GFirst LEP)

1) Gloucestershire Growth Deal
Attached to this report are the most up to date spreadsheets for the Growth Deal programme.
These highlight;

i) ‘Forward Look’ – a comprehensive list of all Growth Deal funded projects with a focus 
on their current status. This spreadsheet now includes the four additional projects 
following the recent re-allocation process. 
Notable changes are the April project launch date of the UK Digital Retail Innovation 
Centre in the Eastgate Shopping Centre and the A419 Corridor improvements with 
construction now due to commence in June.

ii) ‘Projects Summary’ – a comprehensive list of all Growth Deal funded projects that 
highlights forecasted outputs from each project. This spreadsheet now also includes the 
four additional projects following the recent re-allocation process.
NB on all metrics, the forecast exceeds the total commitment in the Growth Deal. 

iii) ‘Dashboard’ - Visual representation of summary data including progress against annual 
forecasts. Updated Quarterly. 

These documents are also available on GFirst LEP’s website;

http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/ 

2)  Growth Deal – ‘Headlines’

- Growth Hub: 20 Gloucestershire libraries have open and operational Growth Hub presence. The 
remaining 11 libraries will all be open during Q1 2018. BEIS very interested in this as a model to 
adopt nationally.

- Growth Hub: Coleford Innovation Lab (within the library) is in the process of being fitted out, to 
open by early April.

- Gloucestershire Airport: Corporate traffic up by 15%.
- Farm 491 / Cirencester Growth Hub: topping out ceremony 7th February. Building on schedule 

for internal fit out in second half of May.
- The Advanced Renewables Research Centre (ARRC) has had the indicative funding withdrawn 

following a comprehensive review by the LEP Board. The £4m has been added to the funds 
available for reallocation.

- Cyber Business Park: The adoption of the JCS (January 2018), the West Cheltenham strategic 
allocation now finalised.

- A40 Longford Traffic Mitigation: site has approved planning permission, as well as the 
associated Twigworth application, via the court of appeal, which mitigates one of the greatest 
risks.

Page 47

Agenda Item 6

http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/


3) Re-allocation of Growth Deal Funds

In the LEP update at the last Joint Committee meeting we highlighted 12 projects that had been received 
against the re-allocation of funds available. Nine of these were submitted for the Dragon’s Den process 
(three projects were not deemed ‘exceptional’). 

The Dragon’s Den event took place on January 4th 2018, each project made a presentation with the 
focus on deliverability, economic impact and the realism /achievability of the outputs. This was then 
followed by a question and answer session.

The overall level of funding available increased from £5,043,000 to £9,643,000, which means that 4 of 
the 9 projects can be offered indicative funding.

Project 18/19 19/20 20/21

Gloucester Railway Station Improvements* £3.750m

Gloucestershire Airport – Anson  Park 
Development

£1.885m

Hartpury College ‘Tech to Plate’ Agri-Tech 
Centre

£300k £700k

Merrywalks Centre Re-development, Stroud* £3m

Two projects (Gloucester Railway Station Improvements and Merrywalks Centre Re-development) have 
been allocated less than they requested. Dransfield (promoters for Merrywalks) have confirmed that 
they will seek a GIIF loan for the £1m shortfall. Gloucester City (promoters for Gloucester Station 
Improvements) will redeploy funds to cover their shortfall (£550K). The preference of the GFirst LEP sub 
group would have been to fund the project in full, and therefore, if extra funds become available, the 
amount allocated to the project would be increased up to a maximum of £4.3m as requested.

The projects that were not successful were:

- Brimscombe Port
- A419/J13 Improvements for Eco-Park
- Cinderford Northern Quarter Site Preparation works
- Cirencester Enterprise Quarter Enabling Works 
- Gloucestershire Engineering Training (GET) Expansion of Engineering Technician Training

The LEP will meet with all the unsuccessful promoters to provide feedback.
These projects will be offered the opportunity to be added to the combined LEP and GEGJC pipeline 
which is in development. 

Page 48



4)  Gloucester South West Bypass funding approval

The LEP Board meeting on 20/2/18 approved the offer of a formal funding award of £2 million, post due 
diligence and business case assessment, for the Gloucester South West Bypass (Llanthony Road) 
Improvements project.

This investment is part of a £7.3 million scheme. GCC Cabinet approval is needed to confirm GCC’s 
commitment to their element of the scheme funding, the funding of any cost increases and future 
ongoing maintenance.  

5) Gloucestershire Inward Investment bid

Following our submission of an expression of interest to secure European funding back in November 
2017, we have now been asked by DCLG to go to the next stage with our Inward Investment 
Gloucestershire bid.

That means now submitting a full application and the deadline for this is May 31st. So a realistic start for 
the project is probably September/October later this year.

The plan is to produce a first draft by early April to circulate to the Local Authority Economic 
Development teams for input.

6) Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire

The submission of Local Industrial Strategies (LIS) will be phased in after the local elections in May and 
the LEP Review. The first will be submitted in March 2019, Gloucestershire will not be included. LIS’s will 
be co-authored with Government departments. Our understanding is that no quick funding will follow.

GFirst LEP, working with Gloucestershire County Council, will produce a draft 2 page summary by this 
summer, which will cover what is special about our county (including cyber security) locally, nationally 
and (potentially) internationally, and our ‘asks’ to Government. This will ensure we are in a strong 
position to start early conversations with Government departments.  

Our intention is also to include connectivity plans with the wider area, and potentially an element of co-
production with other neighbouring LEP’s.

Dev Chakraborty 
1/3/2018

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal Projects 'Forward Look' Key  Milestones (pipeline schemes)

(Based on latest  information at time of publication) Assessment/Due Diligence

Feb‐18 Inv Panel/LEP  Board

Rev 12 Funding agreement (subject to board approval)

Notes Formal project launch 

All pipeline projects are still subject to  investment appraisal and LEP Board approval  Start of construction/implementation

FY 18/19 Q4 FY 2019/20 Q1 FY 2019/20 Q2 FY 2019/20 Q3 FY 2019/20 Q4 FY 2020/21 Q1 FY 2020/21 Q2 FY 2020/21 Q3 FY 2020/21 Q4

LGF 2021

Project Title Category Summary Status RAG Rating £m's Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan‐Mar Apr‐Jun Jul‐Sept Oct‐Dec Jan‐Mar Apr‐Jun Jul‐Sept Oct‐Dec Jan‐Mar

Growth Hub Expansion
Business 
Support

Expanded Core Growth Hub and New 
Business School @ UoG

Building 'topped out' on track 
for Sept opening

£5.000
Est 

Completion

Growth Hub Network
Business 
Support

Network of Growth Hubs across the 
county

Roll out on track, 3 Tier 2 
centres confirmed, Cheltenham 

pending
£4.400

Est 
Completion

Merrywalks Centre Stroud***
Business 
Support

Re‐development of the Merrywalks 
Shopping Center and Car‐Park

Indicative funding approved. In 
development

£3.000
Inv 

Panel/Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Est 
Completion

Farm 491
Business 
Support

Agri‐tech innovation and business 
incubator centre (RAU)

Phase 1 (Harn Hill) now open, 
main campus due May 2018 

£2.920
Est 

Completion

Gloucs Airport Anson Park 
Development***

Business 
Support

Access road from B4063 to expand 
Anson Park

Indicative funding approved. In 
development

£1.885 Due Diligence
Inv Panel/ 
Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
Phase

Est 
Completion

Gloucs Airport South Camp
Business 
Support

New access road to open up land for 
development

Project complete, first new 
build complete Dec17

£0.550

UK Digital Retail Innovation 
Centre

Business 
Support

Retail skills & digital high street pilot 
scheme

concept scheme agreed, out to 
tender for shop fitting

£0.400
Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Cheltenham Cyber Park *
Enabling 

Infrastructure
Road and other infrastructure to 
facilitate Cheltenham Cyber Park 

Planning Application in 
Preparation

£22.000
DfT Retain 
assessment

Due Diligence Inv Panel Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Gloucester Railway Station 
Improvements***

Enabling 
Infrastructure

Redevelopment of underpass, 
frontage and car park access

Indicative funding approved. In 
development

£3.750 Due Diligence
Inv 

Panel/Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Est 
Completion

Cinderford Northern Link Road
Enabling 

Infrastructure

Access road enabling new college 
campus and first phase of 

development of Northern Qtr, 
Complete and fully open £3.800

A40 Longford Traffic Scheme Housing
Traffic mitigation to release a strategic 

housing site
Business Case in Preparation £4.530 Due Diligence Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Blackfriars & Quayside Housing
De‐risking and preparation of site for 

development
Quayside Site Demolitions 
under way. On Track.

£4.130
Est 

Completion

Hartpury College Tech to 
Plate***

Innovation
Application of Digital Productivity 
Tools in Livestock Management

Indicative funding approved. In 
development

£1.000 Due Diligence
Inv 

Panel/Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

GREEN Skills Centre Skills
Gloucs Renewable Energy, 

Engineering & Nuclear Skills Centre
Building complete, now fully 

open.
£5.000

Berkley Green Cyber Security 
Centre

Skills
Cyber Security skills centre, dual 

location UoG & Berkely
Official opening held 10th Nov 

2017
£3.000

Cinderford New College Campus Skills
Funding to support build of new 
Gloscol campus in Cinderford

Funding agreed, construction 
started May 2017

£2.600
Est 

Completion

Gloucestershire STEM centres Skills
STEM teaching facility upgrades at 5 

sites across Gloucs.
Complete, now in delivery 

phase.
£2.096

Elmbridge (Tail End Major DfT 
scheme)

Transport
Major roundabout upgrade A40, key 

strategic route.
Complete. Opened Sept 2017. £9.070

Gloucester Transport Hub** Transport
New Transport Hub for Gloucester & 

highways mods
Under construction due to open 

summer 2018
£6.400

Est 
Completion

A419 Corridor Improvements Transport
Junction improvements along A419 
between M5 J13 and Stonehouse

In Design/Procurement £4.360
Construction 

start
Est 

Completion

A40 Over Roundabout ** Transport
Widening approaches to the 

roundabout & provision of a third 
circulatory lane 

Detailed design & planning in 
progress. Start on Site May 18

£2.230
Construction 

start
Est 

Completion

Gloucester South West By Pass Transport
Widening of Llanthony Road section 

of South West bypass. 
Funding Approved.  £2.000 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

A38 Berkeley Bridges Transport Replacement Northbound bridge Complete June 2017 £1.990

B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction Transport
Upgrade to the B4063/Old Gloucester 

Road junction
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.600

Inv Panel & 
Board

Funding 
Agreement

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Cheltenham Spa Railway 
Station**

Transport
Improvement to station forecourt & 

additional parking
Ready to go to for full approval 

Nov/Dec17
£1.497

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Lydney Transport Strategy Transport
Local junction improvements and 

cycle access
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.000 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

St Barnabas Roundabout Transport Roundabout upgrade 
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.000

Inv Panel & 
Board

Funding 
Agreement

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Abbeymead /Metz Way** Transport
Junction & Pedestrian Crossing 

upgrades (smart signals)
Work to start in spring 2018 £0.500

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

* DfT 'Retained' scheme currently Sub‐Total (committed) £101.708

** Original GLTB scheme Agreed Govt Profile £101.716

***Re‐allocated scheme Variance £0.008

Construction Phase

Construction Phase

Construction Phase In Operation

In Operation

Construction Phase

In Operation

Funding Agreement

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Business Case Development

Detail Design and Planning

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Scheme Development

Construction Phase In Operation

In Operation

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

In Operation

Construction PhaseDetailed design and procurement phase

Construction PhaseDetailed design and procurement phase

In Operation

Delivery Phase

Masterplan Development

Delivery Phase

Full Business Case Development Construction Phase

Construction Phase

2020

Delivery Phase

Delivery Phase

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Delivery PhaseConstruction/Re‐development

FY 2018/19 Q3

Under Construction

FY 2017/18 Q4 FY 2018/19 Q1 FY 2018/19 Q2

In delivery phase

20192018

In delivery phase

In delivery phase

Delivery Phase

Digital Infrastructure Complete, Tier 1 & Tier 2 Network Centres in Progress, Library Centres in Progress

Construction Phase

Delivery Phase

Construction Phase

Under Construction

Scheme Development

Under Construction

In Operation

Planning Stage

Construction start (ahead of Funding 
Agreement at risk)

Full Business Case DevelopmentPlanning Stage

Construction Phase

Detailed Design, Land Aquisition & Planning

Detailed Design & Planning Full Business Case Development

Investment/Development Phase

Now complete and fully open

Full Business Case Development Construction Phase Delivery Phase

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Growth Deal Projects Summary Key

As at Feb 2018 Funding approved and progressing
Current Total Forecasts with Actuals where available

Project Name Growth Fund Category Homes Total jobs
Private 

Leverage £m's
Public Sector 
Leverage £m's

Commercial 
Floorspace m2 

Employment 
Land Ha

Skills 
Capital m2 App'ships

BCR (Road 
schemes)

Growth Hub Amalgamated 9,400,000£          Business Support 0 6644 £0.05 £24.5 1477 0 3800 0 N/A

Merrywalks Centre, Stroud* 3,000,000£          Business Support TBC 500 £27.0 £0.0 20292 1.37 0 0 N/A

Farm 491 2,920,000£          Business Support 0 207 £0.8 £0.0 1380 0 0 0 N/A

Glos Airport Anson Park Development* 1,885,000£          Business Support 0 85 £7.0 £0.0 7500 4 0 0 N/A

Glos Airport South Camp 550,000£              Business Support 0 106 £9.7 £0.0 12000 6.8 0 0 N/A

UK Digital Retail Innovation Centre 400,000£              Business Support 0 50 £0.0 £0.0 500 0 200 0 N/A

Cheltenham Cyber Park * 22,000,000£        Enabling Infrastructure 500 7500 £50.0 £0.0 40000 45 0 0 N/A

Cinderford Northern Link Road 3,800,000£          Enabling Infrastructure 110 0 £0.0 £5.3 0 2 0 0 N/A

Gloucester Railway Station Improvements* 3,750,000£          Enabling Infrastructure 550 300 £7.7 £0.6 10000 5.3 0 0 N/A

A40 Longford Traffic Mitigation * 4,530,000£          Housing 1300 630 £3.3 £0.0 5000 8.3 0 0 TBC

Blackfriars & Quayside 4,130,000£          Housing 250 45 £85.0 £12.0 4000 2.5 0 0 N/A

Hartpury College, Tech‐to‐Plate 1,000,000£          Innovation 0 15 £0.0 £0.0 0 0.0 500 0 N/A

GREEN Skills Centre 5,000,000£          Skills 0 125 £19.5 £15.1 0 10.7 4401 300 N/A

Berkeley Green Cyber Security Centre 3,000,000£          Skills 0 127 £4.0 £0.4 1461 0 1461 213 N/A

Cinderford  ‐ New Gloscol Campus * 2,600,000£          Skills 55 150 £0.0 £12.5 0 0 6000 0 N/A

Gloucestershire STEM centres 2,096,000£          Skills 0 0 £0.0 £3.8 0 0 6141 1064 N/A

Elmbridge (Tail‐end Major road scheme) 9,070,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £5.2 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester Transport Hub ** 6,400,000£          Transport 100 0 £40.0 £8.8 1000 0 0 0 N/A

A419 Corridor Improvements 4,360,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 18

A40 Roundabout & Highnam Lodge ** 2,230,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.1 £0.5 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester South West By Pass 2,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.1 £5.3 0 0 0 0 12

Berkeley Bridge Replacement 1,990,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £1.0 0 0 0 0 5

B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction 1,600,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Cheltenham Spa Railway Station ** 1,497,000£          Transport 0 0 £1.8 £0.2 0 0 0 0 TBC

Lydney Transport Strategy 1,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

St Barnabas Roundabout 1,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Abbeymead /Metz Way ** 500,000£              Transport 0 0 £1.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 4

Forecast Totals* 101,708,000£  2865 16484 £257.1 £95.2 104610 86.0 22503 1577

Growth Deal (1,2 & 3) Commitment 2255 14280 N/A 75.3 N/A 1014
* for GD3 schemes includes outcomes post 2021

** Original GLTB scheme

£285.8

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal Progress Dashboard - all projects

Q3 17/18 (to 31-12-17)

Out turn of funds Totals (£m's)

Govt Profile (inc DfT schemes) £101.72

Plan £100.65

Actual (to Q3 17/18) £44.16

Actual Spend vs Out turn Totals (£m's)

Plan £100.65

Actual (to Q3 17/18) £40.45

(LGF spend only)

Jobs (direct & indirect) 15/16 & 16/1 Totals 

Plan 16484

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 1263

Direct Match - £m committed Totals (£m's)

Forecast £99.07

Actual (to Q3 17/18) £55.24

Total Leverage - £m Totals (£m's)

Forecast £352.27

Actual (to Q3 17/18) £98.53

Housing Unit starts Totals 

Forecast 2865

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 49

1263

Post 2021

£30.0m

49

2020/21

£6.97m

2017/18

£10.63m

2018/19

£17.07m

£15.5m

2015/16

£25.8m

2016/17 2017/18

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

£13.170m £23.802m £13.344m

2018/19

£40.45m

£98.53m

Jobs to date mostly from Growth Hub activity, GREEN and Gloucs Airport. 

Confirmed total leverage now close to £100m. Note - leverage includes both Direct Match and confirmed 'Follow-On' investment.

Construction started on 295 student units (equiv to 49 housing units) in May 2017. Phase 2 planning application submitted. JCS adoption has increased confidence significantly.

2015/16

£15.47m

2016/17

£15.76m

899

2017/18

1160

2018/19

1845

2019/20

2226

2020/21

3207

2018/19

109 331

2019/20

1125

2020/21 Post 2021

1300

2019/20 2020/21

£14.859m

2020/21

£22.593m£23.802m£13.170m

2017/18

£13.355m

2018/19

£10.699m

£13.344m £10.323m £18.385m

2015/16 2016/17

£13.170m £29.150m

2019/20

£20.483m

Confirmed c£7m to be out turned in Q4.

£44.16m

£46.2m £76.0m

2018/19

£10.323m

Post 2021 

7147

Further c£5m will be spent by 31-3-18, mostly across Growth Hub, Blackfriars, GCTH, Farm 491 & Retail Innovation Centre, taking us to c£45m against plan of c£49m. 

£18.385m £22.593m

2019/20

£76.8m

2020/21

£82.2m,

£55.24m

2019/20

£4.51m

Page 1 of 2

P
age 55



Growth Deal Progress Dashboard - all projects

Q3 17/18 (to 31-12-17)
Apprenticeship starts Totals 

Forecast 1577

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 930

Skills - floorspace (m2) Totals m2

Forecast 22503

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 12003

Commercial Floorspace (m2) Totals m2

Forecast 104610

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 4450
(not to scale)

Employment Land (Ha) Total Ha

Forecast 86.0

Actual (to Q3 17/18) 21

Skills - Qualifications Totals 

Forecast 4960

pending 697

930

697

257

2020/21

2018/19

2016/17

21

2015/16

11

2019/20

3

2020/21

60.97

4450

Post 2021

35000

12003

First new hangars in construction at Gloucs Airport c4000 m2. Completion Dec 2017. c450m now in use at Farm 491. 

10000

2016/17

3000

2017/18

7761

2016/17

514

2017/18

900

2018/19

1103

2019/20

1176

2020/21

1267

2016/17

Reflects the delayed start of the GREEN skills centre. Expectations are that we will recover across the programme.

Apprenticeships directly associated with Growth Deal Projects only, ie GREEN, Gloscol, Cirencester & Berkeley Cyber Centre. 

Berkeley Cyber Skills Centre handed over to UoG 28-6-17. New UoG business school and Cinderford new campus both well on track for completion during Q2 18/19

430 450

2019/202017/18

100 340

2018/19

2016/17

9

2017/18

3

Large proportion (45ha) of the employment land created is associated with Cheltenham Cyber Park. Work on the new Cirencester Campus site started in May. 

10542

2018/19

6057

2019/20

24292 28500

2020/21

2017/18

1461

Page 2 of 2

P
age 56



Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool Update AGENDA NO: 

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee, 14 March 2018

Report author David Stanley – Accountancy Manager (Section 151 Officer)
Stroud District Council
Tel: 01453 754100
Email: david.stanley@stroud.gov.uk

Background 
documents

None

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A 

Main consultees Gloucestershire Chief Financial Officers

Planned dates N/A

Purpose of report
To update members of the committee on the latest 2017/18 financial 
performance forecast of the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool, the initial 
2018/19 forecast for the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pilot and Strategic 
Economic Fund

Recommendations
The Committee:
1. Note the forecast position with the Pool for 2017/18 and the update on the 

Gloucestershire Business Rates Pilot for 2018/19.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Business Rates Pool outturn for 2016/17 was strong and ensured 
losses incurred in 2014/15 by pool members were repaid.  The forecast for 
2017/18 remains robust, but will be subject to fluctuation at year end as pool 
members review underlying risks posed by appeals.  The Pool Management 
Team has taken steps to mitigate the risks of any future losses but the 
Committee needs to be mindful of the current risks.

Resource 
Implications

There are no resource implications to implementing this recommendation 
however, despite the mitigating action taken, Pool members must be aware 
of the risks associated with Pooling and make appropriate provision within 
their individual authorities.

Page 57

Agenda Item 7

mailto:david.stanley@stroud.gov.uk


Background 
1. The Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool (GBRP) was set up to maximise the 

business rate income retained within the County and to support economic growth within 
the area of the Local Enterprise Partnership. 

2. In 2013/14, the first year of operation, the Pool reported a surplus of £0.775m of which 
£95k was paid to the Strategic Economic Development Fund supporting the work of the 
Joint Committee.  In 2014/15, the pool suffered a significant loss due to the impact of 
backdated appeals on rateable values and in particular, the successful backdated 
appeal by Virgin Media, the largest valued business in Tewkesbury. The final pool 
position for 2014/15 published a deficit of £2.3m following a safety net payment to 
Tewkesbury of £3.9m.

3. The 2015/16 and 2016/17 outturn positions for the Pool reported a surplus of £1.129m 
and £2.138m respectively, and allowed for all pool losses incurred in 2014/15 to be 
repaid.  The cumulative amount of funding generated by the pool for the SEDF since 
2013/14 is £336k.

4. With the ongoing risk associated with the VM issue and following the Committee’s 
agreement, the Pool was dissolved and a new Pool was formed excluding Tewkesbury 
from April 2016 and this arrangement remains in place for 2017/18.

Forecast for the Pool 2017/18
5. As discussed in earlier reports to the committee, the initial forecast for 2017/18 was 

based on the NNDR1 return to Government which sets the level of business rates 
income for each authority for 2017/18, as estimated in January 2017.  This estimates 
that an additional £4.023m will be retained in Gloucestershire.  This is due to changes 
in pool levy rate (reducing from 8.47% to 3.43%) as a result of the new valuation list 
and the subsequent revised tariff and top-up figures.

6. The current forecast, based on an estimated outturn position undertaken by pool 
members in January 2018, shows a slightly reduced forecast of £3.694m

7. Whilst the level of additional retained business rates income is encouraging, there 
remains risk to business rates income as April 2017 marked the start of a new valuation 
period.  As members may recall, new rateable values came into force on 01 April 2017, 
with significant changes to individual business rates bills as a result.  The March 2017 
budget made some changes to certain business rates bills that will no doubt impact on 
the final amount of retained business rates income for the year.

8. It is likely that there will be appeals against the April 2017 valuations and we will need 
to see how these affect the level of retained business rates income over time.  
However, at the time of writing, the current level of appeals against the new rating list 
remains very low.  This may be due to the ‘Check, Challenge, Appeal’ system put in 
place to filter-out speculative appeals.  As appeals can be made the 2017 rating list up 
to the next revaluation (scheduled to be completed for April 2022), this is an area of risk 
that will be kept under review.

9. The number of appeals still outstanding against the 2010 rating list remains high, with 
little progress made by the VOA during the year.  Therefore, a risk remains to the level 
of retained business rates income from outstanding appeals.

Page 58



10.Members may be aware that NHS Foundation Trusts are continuing to look to be 
classified as charitable bodies and therefore qualify for mandatory charitable business 
rates relief of 80% of their business rates.  This issue has recently come to the fore 
again, High Court proceedings issued by 20 NHS Foundation Trusts against 49 local 
authorities in February 2018.  The Local Government Association is supporting councils 
to coordinate legal advice, and raising the issue at a national level with the Secretary of 
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

11.Therefore, the revised estimate of £3.694m highlighted in paragraph 6 should be 
viewed in light of the risks outlined above.  The final outturn position will be considered 
by the Gloucestershire CFOs in May 2018 and reported to a subsequent meeting of 
GEGJC.

100% Business Rates Pilots
12.Gloucestershire was successful with its application to be a 100% Business Rates Pilot 

for 2018/19.  The pilot will include all 7 Gloucestershire Councils, and will result in 
member authorities forgoing Revenue Support Grant and Rural Services Delivery Grant 
(approx. £21.6m) in return for a greater proportion of business rates income being 
retained.  The Pilot is formally in place for 2018/19 only.

13. Initial financial modelling undertaken as part of the application process in the summer 
suggested a potential benefit of £10m to the Pilot area.  Forecasts based on the 
2018/19 NNDR1 forms show an increased level of benefit of around £14m, but as with 
all NNDR1-based forecasts, the final amount of Pilot benefit will reduce over the course 
of the financial year as prior-year adjustments will reduce the amount of income 
retained.

14.The recommended distribution of the Pilot benefit, which was endorsed by Leadership 
Gloucestershire at their meeting on 26 October 2017, is set out in the table below.
Distribution % October 

2017 
Est

Jan 
2018 Est

Strategic Economic Development Fund (available to 
all Councils)

20% £2m £2.9m

District Councils (for financial resilience or other uses 
including growth initiatives)

30% £3m £4.5m

County Council (for financial resilience or other uses 
including growth initiatives)

50% £5m £7.4m

15. It should be noted that the level of business rates retained and the Pilot benefit is 
derived from Pilot members’ estimates of the rates collection forecast based on NNDR1 
and the actual business rates collected may be more or less than this.  The strong 
advice from the Pool Management Team (the CFOs of the Gloucestershire 
Councils) is that resource allocation decisions on any Pilot benefit will be made 
following the 2018/19 outturn position (April 2019), once there is absolute clarity 
on both the amount of business rates retained and the distribution.  This reflects 
the risks outlined earlier in the report and that funds will not be available until the 
2019/20 financial year

Page 59



Strategic Economic Development Fund
16.At the last meeting, the Joint Committee agreed that £250k of reserves currently held in the 

Strategic Economic Fund are used for the purposes of match funding the Government’s core 
funding to GFirst LEP in 2018/19 and the first £250k of SEDF revenues arising during 2017/18 
are used to match fund the Government’s core funding in 2019/20. It was also agreed that the 7 
Councils enter into a simple annual memorandum of understanding’ with GFirst LEP. A 
Memorandum of Understanding has now been prepared and is ready for signature by all parties.

17. It was also agreed that a further £75k of reserves held in the Strategic Economic Fund 
is used for the purposes of match funding the Inward Investment Service proposed by 
GFirst LEP. Following the LEP/Local Authorities collaborative submission of an 
expression of interest to secure some European funding back in November, we have 
been asked by DCLG to go to the next stage with our Inward Investment 
Gloucestershire bid and submit a full application by May 31st 2018.

Risk Assessment
18.Some risk remains from the Business Rates Pool should there be significant backdated 

appeals settled.  The issue of NHS Trusts requesting charitable status is the most 
significant financial risk to the pool and pool members.

Officer Advice
19.No officer advice required

Equalities considerations
20.There are no equalities considerations associated with this decision. It is purely a 

financial consideration.

Consultation feedback
21.Each of the Business Rates Pool members has been consulted about this report and 

support the recommendation.

Performance Management/follow-up
22.A report on the performance of the Business Rates Pool will be presented to a future 

meeting of the Joint Committee.  Between now and then, Chief Financial Officers will 
keep Chief Executives and Leaders appraised of any developments 

Page 60



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee - Forward Plan 2017/18 – 2018/19

Meeting Date Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising
 29th November

2017 Economic Intelligence Baseline

Employment and Skills

Gloucestershire Connections Study

Gloucestershire Business Rates 
Pool

Strategic Planning Collaboration in 
Gloucestershire

Presentation on INFORM data sharing platform 
and consideration of proposals to improve 
collation and utilisation of economic intelligence

Update on the activities of the new 
Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board

Presentation on the recently commissioned study 
into the future for road and rail in support of 
improved strategic connectivity in Gloucestershire 
by 2050

Consideration of joint Business Rates Pool 
arrangements for 2018/19 and any associated 
funding proposals

Progress report in respect of the recruitment for 
the Strategic Planning Coordinator post and 
associated governance changes

GCC

GCC/LEP

GCC

SDC/GCC

GEGJC SOG

Actioned

Carried forward 

Actioned

Actioned

Actioned

 14th March 
2018

GFirst LEP Update

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC)

Gloucestershire Growth 
Story  

To receive an update report

GEGSC update report be included as a 
standing item on this Committee’s 
agenda

- Highways England Perspective
- Local development 

opportunities/challenges 
(investment pipeline)

- Key lines of enquiry to assist 
locality preparations for Brexit

GFirst LEP

GCC (Scrutiny Chair)

HE

All partners

LGA

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 9



Cotswold AONB 

Growth Delivery 
Monitoring 

Gloucestershire Business 
Rates Pool

Consideration of the case for National 
Park status

Core Strategy and Local Plan Update

- Proposed terms for SEDF 
release for LEP core funding

CCB/CDC

GEGJC SOG

SDC/GCC

 20th June GFirst LEP Update 

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC)

Employment and Skills

GIIP Update

Improving the 
Effectiveness of the Local 
Planning System in 
Gloucestershire

Growth Delivery 
Monitoring

To receive an update report

Activity report (standing item)

Update on the activities of the new 
Gloucestershire Employment and 
Skills Board

Review of outcome of access pilot and 
re-presentation of the GIIP as the 
GEG-CIP 

Review of intervention priorities 
outlined in the Devolution bid, the 
appointment of a Strategic Planning 
Co-ordinator and emerging ‘Barriers 
to Development’ Action Plan

- Report on delivery issues 
associated with the proposed 
improvements to M5 J9 & 10

- Planned approach for the 
preparation of a Local 

GFirst LEP

GCC

GCC/LEP

GEGJC SOG

GEGJC SOG

GEGJC SOG

P
age 62



Economic Intelligence 
Baseline

Industrial Strategy (LIS)
- JCS Growth Prospectus

Progress of the Working Group to 
improve collation and utilisation of 
economic intelligence

GCC

 5th September GFirst LEP Update 

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC)

GEG CIP (GIIP) Update

To receive an update report

Activity report (standing item)

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GCC

GEGJC SOG
 21st November GFirst LEP Update 

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC)

GEG CIP (GIIP) Update

To receive an update report

Activity report (standing item)

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GCC

GEGJC SOG

 March 2019 
(TBC)

GFirst LEP Update 

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC) 

Gloucestershire Business 
Rates Pool (SEDF)

GEG CIP (GIIP) Update

To receive an update report

Activity report (standing item)

Review of forward funding 
arrangements for GFirst LEP

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GCC

SDC/LEP/GCC

GEGJC SOG

P
age 63



Broadband and Mobile 
Provision
Visitor Economy

Unscheduled Items

20:50 Vision Progress

P
age 64


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Gloucestershire's Growth Story
	GEGJC A417 Missing Link report 14 March 2018
	GEGJC March 2018 - Brexit Considerations Briefing Note (final)
	GEGJC Report Strategic Planning Update FINAL

	5 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee
	Printed minutes Thursday 22-Feb-2018 13.30 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

	6 GFirst LEP Update
	Growth Deal Forward Look Rev12 Feb 2018
	Summary Outputs table Feb 2018
	Dashboard update Q3 WIP 17-18

	7 Business Rate Pool
	9 Forward Plan - Future Work Programme

